Bibliography of The Pennsylvania Constitution: A Treatise on Rights and Liberties

by

Ken Gormley, Principal Editor; Joy G. McNally, Associate Editor. 2d ed. 2020

by

Joel Fishman, Ph.D., M.L.S.

September 2022

Pittsburgh: Duquesne University School of Law, 2022

Bibliography of *The Pennsylvania Constitution:*A Treatise on Rights and Liberties Ken Gormley, Principal Editor.; Joy G. McNally, Associate Editor. 2d ed. 2020

by Joel Fishman, Ph.D., M.L.S.*

This bibliography is an updated bibliography of the second edition with page references to the 2020 bound volume. It does not include sources cited only in the first edition. A bibliographical essay on the primary sources is then followed by secondary books and articles cited in the book. It does not index the primary sources: constitutional articles and sections, statutes and their legislative histories, court cases, and rules; nor does it contain a table of cases.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. Primary Sources	2
A. Pennsylvania	2
1. Constitutional Sources	2
2. Other Constitutional Sources	6
3. Legislation ³	7
3a. Journals of the General Assembly	7
3b. Chronological Laws	7
3c. Topical Laws	11
4. Court Cases	11
5. Judicial Biography	13
6. Attorneys-General Opinions	14
7. Other Sources	14
B. Federal Primary Sources	15
1. Constitutional Documents	
2. Congressional Documents	16
C. English Primary Sources	16
II. Secondary Sources	17
A. Bibliographical Sources.	17
B. Secondary Works Specifically on the Pennsylvania General Assembly	17
C. Digests	18
D. Citators	18
E. Treatises and Articles	18
1. Pennsylvania Books	19
2. Books and Articles	19

Joel Fishman, Ph.D., M.L.S., Associate Director for Lawyer Services, Emeritus, Duquesne University Center for Legal Information/Allegheny County Law Library. He is also the Co-Director of the Pennsylvania Constitution Website at Duquesne University School of Law, www.paconstitution.org.

I. Primary Sources

A. Pennsylvania

1. Constitutional Sources

The proceedings of the constitutional conventions have been published as journals and debates and are the following list is drawn from Congressional Information Service:

1. Pennsylvania. Constitutional Convention, 1776. & 1790.

The proceedings relative to calling the conventions of 1776 and 1790, the Minutes of the Convention that Formed the Present Constitution of Pennsylvania. Together with the Charter of William Penn, The Constitutions of 1776 and 1790 and a View of the Proceedings of the Convention of 1776 and the Council of Censors (John Westling Harrisburg, 1825). Sometimes cited as Francis Shunk, author.

P.242, 159, 241, 242, 382, 383, 402, 417, 418, 428, 432, 434, 538, 542, 577, 967, 968

2. Pennsylvania. General Assembly. Senate.

RESOLUTIONS ON THE PART OF CALLING A CONVENTION, TO ALTER AND AMEND CERTAIN PARTS OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THIS COMMONWEALTH. In Senate, January 9, 1812.

3. Pennsylvania. General Assembly. Senate. Select Committee to Whom Were Referred the Petitions of Citizens Praying for the Passage of a Law Authorizing the Call of a Convention to Alter the Constitution.

REPORT. READ IN THE SENATE, FEBRUARY 20, 1833. Harrisburg, 1833.

4. Pennsylvania. Constitutional Convention, 1837-1838.

JOURNAL OF THE CONVENTION OF THE STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA, TO PROPOSE AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION, COMMENCED AND HELD AT THE STATE CAPITOL IN HARRISBURG, ON THE SECOND DAY OF MAY, 1837. Harrisburg: Printed by Thompson & Clark, 1837-1838. 2 vols.

5. Pennsylvania. Constitutional Convention, 1837-1838.

PROCEEDINGS OF THE DEBATES OF THE CONVENTION OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA, TO PROPOSE AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION, COMMENCED AND HELD AT HARRISBURG, ON THE SECOND DAY OF MAY, 1837. Reported by John Agg, stenographer to the convention.... Harrisburg: 1837-1839. 14 vols. 193, 242, 243-44, 251, 252, 544, P.970, 972, 981

6. Pennsylvania. Constitutional Convention, 1837-1838.

CONVENTIONAL DIRECTORY: CONTAINING THE RULES AND ORDERS OF THE CONVENTION, WHICH ASSEMBLED AT HARRISBURG, PENN., MAY 2, 1837; ... Harrisburg: 1837.

7. Pennsylvania. Constitution.

AN APPEAL TO THE PEOPLE OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA, IN BEHALF OF THE CONSTITUTION. READ, REFLECT, AND DECIDE. [n.p..], 1838.

8. Pennsylvania. Constitution.

CONSTITUTION OF PENNSYLVANIA, 1838. (IN Thorpe, v. 5, p. 3104-3117)

9. Pennsylvania Constitutional Convention, 1872-1873.

JOURNAL OF THE CONVENTION TO AMEND THE CONSTITUTION OF PENNSYLVANIA; CONVENED AT HARRISBURG, NOVEMBER 12, 1872: ADJOURNED NOVEMBER 27, TO MEET IN PHILADELPHIA, JANUARY 7, 1873. Harrisburg: B. Singerly, State Printer, 1873. 2 vols.

10. Pennsylvania Constitutional Convention, 1872-1873.

DEBATES OF THE CONVENTION TO AMEND THE CONSTITUTION OF PENNSYLVANIA, 1872-1873. Harrisburg: 1873. 9 vols. P. 162, 163, 164, 165, 166, 167, 195, 196, 197-201, 245-246, 252, 298, 299, 418, 430-431, 545, 724, 974, 975

11. Pennsylvania. Secretary of the Commonwealth.

STATISTICAL AND OTHER INFORMATION FOR THE CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION OF PENNSYLVANIA. PREPARED BY FRANCIS JORDAN, SECRETARY OF THE COMMONWEALTH. Harrisburg: 1872.

12. Pennsylvania. Constitutional Convention, 1872-1873.

PROCEEDINGS OF THE TRIAL OF HON. JAMES BOYD, OF MONTGOMERY CO., PA., JUNE 14, 1873, BY HIS COLLEAGUES OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION, STENOGRAPHICALLY REPORTED BY R. A. WEST. Philadelphia: Philadelphia Town, 1874.

- 13. Pennsylvania. Constitutional Convention, 1872-1873.
- ...[REPORT] TO THE PEOPLE OF PENNSYLVANIA. [Philadelphia: 1873?]
- 14. An Answer to the Report of the Constitutional Commission, as Made to the Legislature of Pennsylvania, at the Session of 1875; by Members of Late Constitutional Convention from Luzerne County. Philadelphia: 1875.

15. Pennsylvania. Constitution.

NEW CONSTITUTION. PRINTED BY ORDER OF THE CONVENTION. TO BE SUBMITTED TO A VOTE OF THE PEOPLE, TUESDAY, DECEMBER 16, 1873. [Philadelphia: 1873]

16. Pennsylvania. Constitution.

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA. WITH AN INTRODUCTION, NOTES, AND REFERENCES, AND AN EXHAUSTIVE INDEX:.... H. E. Wallace and D. Sanders. Philadelphia: 1874.

17. Pennsylvania. Constitution.

AN EXAMINATION OF THE CONSTITUTION OF PENNSYLVANIA. EXHIBITING THE DERIVATION AND HISTORY OF ITS SEVERAL PROVISIONS, WITH OBSERVATIONS AND OCCASIONAL NOTES THEREON, REFERENCES TO JUDICIAL AND OTHER OPINIONS UPON THEIR CONSTRUCTION AND APPLICATION, TO STATUTES FOR THEIR ENFORCEMENT, AND TO PARALLEL PROVISIONS IN THE CONSTITUTIONS OF OTHER AMERICAN STATES. By Charles R. Buckalew. Philadelphia: 1883. See below under E.1.

18. Pennsylvania. Constitution.

CONSTITUTION OF PENNSYLVANIA ANALYTICALLY INDEXED AND WITH INDEX OF PROHIBITED LEGISLATION. By James McKirdy. Harrisburg: 1912. [Legislative Reference Bureau; bulletin no. 1]

- 19. Pennsylvania. Governor's Commission on Constitutional Amendment and Revision. JOURNAL OF PROCEEDINGS...[AND APPENDIX]. Harrisburg: J. L. Kuhn, Printer to the Commonwealth, 1920. 3 vols.
- 20. Pennsylvania. Commission on Constitutional Amendment and Revision. REPORT OF THE COMMISSION TO THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY. DECEMBER 15, 1920. [Harrisburg: s.n., 1921.]
- 21. Pennsylvania. Commission on Constitutional Revision.
 REPORT OF THE COMMISSION ON CONSTITUTIONAL REVISION. [Harrisburg]: 1959.
- 22. Pennsylvania Bar Association. Committee on Constitutional Revision. REPORT: PROJECT CONSTITUTION, MARCH 9, 1959. [Harrisburg: 1959].
- 23. Pennsylvania Bar Association.
- "A Revised Constitution for Pennsylvania: Project Constitution." 34 PA. B. A. Q. 147, 247 (January 1963, no. 2A). P.871
- 24. Pennsylvania Bar Association.

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE TWELVE RESOLUTIONS PRESENTED TO THE 1963 PENNSYLVANIA LEGISLATURE BY THE PENNSYLVANIA BAR ASSOCIATION WHICH WOULD CONSTITUTE A REVISED STATE CONSTITUTION.

- 25. Pennsylvania Bar Association. Special Committee on Project Constitution. REPORT, DECEMBER 1964. Harrisburg: 1964.
- 26. Pennsylvania Bar Association.

A REVISED CONSTITUTION FOR PENNSYLVANIA: PROJECT CONSTITUTION, DECEMBER 17, 1963. [Harrisburg: 1963].

27. Pennsylvania. Governor's Commission on Constitutional Revision.

REPORT WITH RECOMMENDATIONS OF RESOLUTIONS TO BE INTRODUCED INTO THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY. [Harrisburg]: 1964.

28. Pennsylvania Economy League, Inc.

COMPARISON OF PROPOSED NEW CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS WITH PENNSYLVANIA'S PRESENT CONSTITUTION. [revised ed., July 1965] Harrisburg: [1963].

- 29. Pennsylvania Bar Association. Special Committee on Project Constitution. REPORT TO THE ANNUAL MEETING, JANUARY 1966. Pittsburgh: 1966.
- 30. Pennsylvania Bar Association.

PROPOSALS TO THE PREPARATORY COMMITTEE AND THE CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION. Harrisburg: 1967.

31. Pennsylvania Bar Association.

PENNSYLVANIA CONSTITUTIONAL REVISION: 1966 HANDBOOK. Harrisburg: 1966. P.629, 871

32. Pennsylvania. Constitution.

CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA, AS AMENDED BY MAJORITY VOTE OF THE ELECTORS IN 1965, 1966, 1967. [Harrisburg: 1967].

- 33. Pennsylvania. Constitutional Convention, 1967-1968. Preparatory Committee. TESTIMONY AT PUBLIC HEARINGS AND OTHER STATEMENTS. [Harrisburg: 1967].
- 34. Pennsylvania. Constitutional Convention, 1967-1968. Preparatory Committee. *Reference manual*. [Harrisburg: 1967]. 9 vols.
- #1-THE CONVENTION.
- #2-Constitution of Pennsylvania and [the] Constitution of the United States.
- #3-A HISTORY OF PENNSYLVANIA CONSTITUTIONS. P.3, 51, 53, 58, 59, 61, 62, 63, 65, 66, 67, 68,
- 73, 74, 157, 159, 160, 161, 162, 163, 537, 539, 541, 542, 543, 627, 628
- #4-Local Government.
- #5-The Judiciary, P.783
- #6-LEGISLATIVE APPORTIONMENT.
- #7-TAXATION AND STATE FINANCE.
- #8-BIBLIOGRAPHY.
- #9-INDEX.

35. Pennsylvania. Constitutional Convention, 1967-1968.

Debates of the Pennsylvania Constitutional Convention of 1967-1968. Harrisburg: 1968. 2 vols.

- 36. Pennsylvania. Constitutional Convention, 1967-1968. DELEGATE PROPOSALS, NUMBERS 1000-1209. [Harrisburg: 1968.]
- 37. Pennsylvania. Constitution.

CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA. Harrisburg: 1984. (In Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes)

38. Pennsylvania. Constitution.

CONSTITUTIONS OF PENNSYLVANIA; CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES. Harrisburg: Legislative Reference Bureau, 1986. This volume updates no. 18

Provides text of all of the Pennsylvania constitutions along with the U. S. Constitution.

2. Other Constitutional Sources

Swindler, William F., ed. SOURCES AND DOCUMENTS OF UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS (1973-79). 10 vols. P.35, 68, 125, 531, 535, 536, 537, 538, 541, 542, 553, 556, 557, 577, 966, 967, 968, 969, 970, 971, 973

Thorpe, Francis Newton, ed. The Federal and State Constitutions, Colonial Charters, and Other Organic Laws of the States, Territories, and Colonies Now or Heretofore Forming the United States of America. (1909). 7 vols. P.432, 881, 882

Pennsylvania documents can be found in volume 5. This material is also available through the Avalon Project at Yale Law School Library at: www.yale.edu/lawweb/avalon. For the constitutional documents of the seventeenth century, one is advised to see instead the *Statues at Large of Pennsylvania*, *Volume 1* Appendixes (2001) that is available at www.plrb.us.

The following colonial proceedings related to the coming of independence.²

Pennsylvania (Colony). Proceedings of the Convention for the Province of Pennsylvania, held at Philadelphia, from January 23, 1775 to January 28, 1775, in PA ARCHIVES, 2d series, v.3 (Harrisburg, 1875) [623]-631.

Pennsylvania. (Colony). Provincial Conference, 1775. Proceedings of the Conference of the Committee of the Province of Pennsylvania, held at Carpenter's Hall, Philadelphia, from June 18 to June 26, 1776, in PA ARCHIVES, 2d ser. v.3 (Harrisburg, 1875) [633]-665.

Pennsylvania Constitution. The Constitution of the Common-Wealth of Pennsylvania, as established by the general convention elected for that purpose, and held at Philadelphia, July 15th, 1776, and continued by adjournments to September 28, 1776. Philadelphia: Printed by J. Dunlap, 1776.

Pennsylvania. Constitutional Convention, 1776. MINUTES OF THE CONVENTION OF 1776, in *PA Archives* 2d series, v.10 (Harrisburg, 1896), 753-784.

MINUTES OF THE COUNCIL OF SAFETY OF PENNSYLVANIA. [JUNE 30, 1775, TO JULY 22, 1776, AND THOSE OF THE COUNCIL OF SAFETY, JULY 24, 1776-NOVEMBER 12, 1776, in *Colonial Records* v.10 (Harrisburg, 1852) 277-784.

Pennsylvania Governor. PAPERS OF THE GOVERNORS, v.3-4. 1759-1817. Harrisburg: State of Pennsylvania, 1900. *PA Archives*, 4th ser., v.3-4.

Pennsylvania Officers of the State of PA in the Revolution and Under the Constitution of 1776, in PA ARCHIVES, 2d ser., v. 3 (Harrisburg, 1875): [667]-794.

² See Ronald M. Gephart. REVOLUTIONARY AMERICA 1763-1789 A BIBLIOGRAPHY (1984). 2 vols.

PROCEEDINGS AND DEBATES OF THE CONVENTION OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA, TO PROPOSE AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (Harrisburg, Pa., Packer, Barrett and Parke 1837).

3. Legislation³

3a. Journals of the General Assembly

The primary source for legislation is the journals of the General Assembly:

Votes and Proceedings of the House of Representatives of Pennsylvania, 1682-1760. 6 vols. Philadelphia: 1752-1776. Reprinted in Pennsylvania Archives. 8th ser. This is a collection of the daily activities of the Assembly from 1682 to 1760.

Pennsylvania. General Assembly. LEGISLATIVE RECORD. Harrisburg: Published by authority of the Legislature, 1776(?)–1909.

Pennsylvania General Assembly. LEGISLATIVE JOURNAL. Harrisburg: The State, 1911–1962.

Pennsylvania. General Assembly. House of Representatives. LEGISLATIVE JOURNAL. Harrisburg: 1963–.

Pennsylvania. General Assembly. Senate. LEGISLATIVE JOURNAL. [Harrisburg, Pa.]: The Assembly,1963—.

History of the House and Senate Bills. Biennial. This is the official index to the legislative history of all bills introduced into the legislature. One has to locate the year, house, and bill number to locate the legislative history. Information provided is usually found by looking for "Remarks, see House [Senate] Journal, pages or date." There are problems in looking up the legislative history using this source because the pagination provided is not always complete. The page numbers may not give the final page of the voting record. Sometimes a point of order or other parliamentary procedure may interrupt the debates and may continue several pages later without any reference in the index. There also is an Index at the end of some of the annual volumes that provides specific page references to debates by bill number. In at least one or two instances, the editor has found debates listed that were not referenced in the older History volumes.

3b. Chronological Laws

During the colonial period the laws were published chronologically in order. The laws of many of the legislative sessions were published after each session. Since there are too many to publish in this paper, see Charlemagne Tower, *The Charlemagne Tower Collection of American Colonial Laws*. Philadelphia: Historical Society of Pennsylvania, 1890. Reprint. Littleton, Colo.: F. B. Rothman, 1990.

³ This list is drawn from Joel Fishman, *The History of Statutory Compilations in Pennsylvania*, 86 LAW LIBR. J. 559, 585-596 (1994).

There were cumulative sets published during the eighteenth century and several major sets published in the nineteenth century. *Smith's Laws* and the *Statutes at Large of Pennsylvania* are today the major sources for research purposes. Some of the following information is drawn from Joel Fishman, *The History of Statutory Publications in Pennsylvania*, 84 LAW LIB. J. 559-596 (1994).

A COLLECTION OF CHARTERS AND OTHER PUBLICK ACTS RELATING TO THE PROVINCE OF PENNSYLVANIA. (Philadelphia, Franklin 1740). P.153, 170

Dallas, Alexander J., comp. Laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania from the Fourteenth Day of October, One Thousand Seven Hundred, to the First Day of October, One Thousand Seven Hundred and Eighty-One. Republished under the Authority of the Legislature, by Alexander James Dallas. Vol. I. Philadelphia: Hall & Sellers, 1797.

_____. Laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania from the Second Day of October, One Thousand Seven Hundred and Eighty-One, to the Second Day of October, One Thousand Seven Hundred and Ninety. Republished under the Authority of the Legislature, by Alexander James Dallas. Vol. II. Philadelphia: Hall & Sellers, 1793. Thomas Mifflin's seal states that he appointed Dallas on May 8, 1793. Dallas's preface note also has the same date for the publication.

_____. Laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania from the Seventh Day of December, One Thousand Seven Hundred and Ninety, to the Twentieth Day of April, One Thousand Seven Hundred and Ninety-Five. Published, under the Authority of the Legislature, by Alexander James Dallas. Vol. III. Philadelphia: Hall & Sellers, 1795. P.383

_____. Laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania from the First Day of December, One Thousand Seven Hundred and Ninety-Five, to the Twenty-Seventh Day of February, One Thousand Eight Hundred and One. Published, under the Authority of the Legislature, by Alexander James Dallas. Vol. IV. Lancaster: Francis Bailey, 1801.

Carey, Mathew, and John Bioren, comps. Laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, from the Fourteenth Day of October One Thousand Seven Hundred, to the Sixth Day of April, One Thousand Eight Hundred and Two. Republished under the Authority of the Legislature, by M. Carey and J. Bioren. Philadelphia: John Bioren, for Mathew Carey and Self, 1803. 6 vols.

[Smith, Charles, ed.] Laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, from the Fourteenth Day of October, One Thousand Seven Hundred, to the Twentieth Day of March, One Thousand Eight Hundred and Ten. Republished under the Authority of the Legislature, with Notes and References. In Four Volumes. Philadelphia: John Bioren, 1810.

Vol. 1 covers from September 15, 1701, to April 10, 1781. Vol. 2 covers from May 24, 1781, to April 5, 1790. Vol. 3 covers from December 7, 1790, to April 6, 1802. Vol. 4 covers from December 7, 1802, to March 28, 1810.

Vol. 5 covers from December 6, 1810, to March 31, 1812 (1812). An appendix contains some notes and resolutions, including a list of 105 resolutions passed since 1790 but now obsolete. A second appendix contains Charles II's charter to William Penn, concessions of 1681, charter of privileges (1683), Declaration of Independence, and Constitution of 1776 (pp. 406-35). Appendix III contains a summary of Pennsylvania Supreme Court cases since June 1808 (pp. 436-45). Bound in this volume is a cumulative index, "General Index to the Laws of Pennsylvania in Five Volumes. From the Year 1700, to the Thirty-first of March 1812, Inclusive." The index is more than just a listing of references, since it also provided some of the text from the acts according to volume and page number. An index to the notes can also be found in pages 350-59, followed by citations to court cases, pp. 390-93. P.156

[Reed, Joseph, ed.] Laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, from the Fourteenth Day of October, One Thousand Seven Hundred. Republished under the Authority of the Legislature, with Notes and References. Philadelphia: John Bioren, 1822. Vol. 6 covers from December 21, 1812, to March 25, 1817.

This is the sixth volume of *Smith's Laws*, but the first volume edited by Reed. There are four pages of resolutions (pp. 507-10), followed by "Pensions and Pecuniary Gratuities, for Revolutionary and Military Services, from 1st December 1812 to the 25th March 1817" (pp. 511-13), appendix of notes (pp. 516-19), and index to the sixth volume (pp. 521-43).

Vol. 7 (1822) covers from December 21, 1812 to March 25, 1817. In the front of the book is a list of Pennsylvania laws that have been repealed, obsolete, and expired (pp. iii-xiii), followed by "Pensions and Pecuniary Gratuities, for Revolutionary and Other Military Services, from 2d December 1818 to 2d April 1822" (pp. xiv-xix). Bound with *General Index to the Sixth and Seventh Volumes of the Laws of Pennsylvania, from December 1812, to April 1822, Inclusive.* Philadelphia: J. Bioren, 1823. The first section contains the index to the two volumes; the second part contains an index to the resolutions, followed by a table of explanatory of sundry technical law terms (pp. 25-28).

Vol. 8 (1842) covers from December 3, 1822, to April 11, 1825. Vols. 8-10 are published by James Kay, Jr. & Brother.

Vol. 9 (1843) covers from December 6, 1825, to April 17, 1827. Appendix A contains the case of *Prigg v. Com. of Pennsylvania* (1841) (pp. 447-56); Appendix B contains the commissioners' report of the Internal Improvement Fund of 1842 (pp. 457-59); extracts from the report of J. W. Hammond, bookkeeper in the Treasury Dept. (pp. 459-63), and the legislative act for drawing up this volume (p. 463), followed by the index to the volume (pp. 465-78).

Vol. 10 (1844) covers from December 4, 1827, to April 23, 1829. Appendix A covers the act for the gradual abolition of slavery (March 1, 1780), with an extensive note of four pages (pp. 466-70); Appendix B is a note on the 1829 penal law revisions (pp. 471-82), followed by the index (pp. 483-502).

Commonly referred to as "Smith's Laws," this set contains the chronological laws of the public laws passed by the General Assembly from 1700 to 1829. Private laws only have their title but no text. Charles Smith was a judge of the Court of Common Pleas of Third Judicial District, who provided extensive editorial notes to hundreds of statutes in the set, some very important for Pennsylvania legal history, e.g., creating a Land Office with a history of land law in Pennsylvania in vol. 2, pp. 102-261 reforming criminal law and a history of criminal law in vol. 2, pp. 531-602. He annotated the first five volumes. Joseph Reed continued volumes 6-10. This set of books is cited in *Purdon's Statutes* for all pre-1829 statutory law. The first four volumes of the set are on

the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania's Legislative Reference Bureau website, at www.palrb.gov/preservation. The complete set is available in HeinOnline.

George, Staundford, Benjamin Nead, and Thomas McCamant, eds., Charter to William Penn, and Laws of Pennsylvania, Passed Between the Years 1682 and 1700. Preceded by the Duke of York's Laws in Force from the Year 1676 to the Year 1682, With an Appendix Containing Laws Relating to the Organization of the Provincial Courts and Historical Matter. Harrisburg: Lane S. Hart, State Printer, 1879. P.170, 383, 397, 433

Includes a reproduction of the King Charles II's charter to William Penn. The volume was authorized by the statute of June 12, 1878. This volume is sometimes cited as *The Duke of York's Laws*.

This book contains the Duke of York's Laws as found in the records of the town clerk of Hempstead, Long Island and reproduced by the New York Historical Society in 1809. It also contains the Royal Charter, Frames of Government, and individual session laws complete except for 1697, which is only a synopsis. The first appendix contains the laws establishing a court of judicature from 1682 to 1722 with an explanatory introduction. The cover page is APPENDIX A. COMPILATION OF THE LAWS AND ORDINANCES ESTABLISHING THE SEVERAL COURTS OF JUDICATURE OF THE PROVINCE OF PENNSYLVANIA, WITH AN INTRODUCTION, BY STAUGHTON GEORGE. George's introduction deals with the statutory history of the courts since the Assembly would pass an act and have five years in which to submit the act to the English government. The English government would then repeal the act, and the Assembly would have to start over again. Sometimes the governor issued ordinances to continue the court system. The act of 1722, therefore, is the cumulation of the controversy between the crown and colony.

APPENDIX B. HISTORICAL NOTES ON THE EARLY GOVERNMENT AND LEGISLATIVE COUNCILS AND ASSEMBLIES OF PENNSYLVANIA, BY BENJAMIN M. NEAD. PART I, FROM THE EUROPEAN SETTLEMENT ON THE DELAWARE TO THE ACQUISITION OF THE COUNTRY BY PENN, 1623-1681. PART II. FROM THE ACQUISITION OF THE COUNTRY BY PENN TO THE CLOSE OF THE CENTURY, 1681-1700. Part I contains four chapters dealing with Swedish rule from 1638 to 1655, Dutch rule from 1655 to 1664, English rule from 1664 to 1681, and Penn's rule from 1681 to 1700.

There is an index to the laws, and indexes to Appendices A and B.

http://books.google.com/books?id=IdWgAAAAMAAJ&printsec=frontcover &dq=charter+to+william+penn#v=onepage&q=&f=false

Mitchell, James T. and Henry Flanders, comps. The Statutes at Large of Pennsylvania from 1682 to 1801, Compiled under the Authority of the Act of May 19, 1887 by James T. Mitchell and Henry Flanders, Commissioners. Clarence M. Busch, State Printer of Pennsylvania, 1896-1915. 18 vols.

This set contains the official chronological laws, both public and private, passed by the General Assembly from 1700 to 1809. The set was authorized by the General Assembly in 1887 and compiled by a commission including the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania and other noted lawyers and historians. It does not include notes like *Smith's Laws*.

The original sixteen volumes covered from 1700 to 1801 and were published between 1896 and 1911. Two additional volumes compiled by James T. Mitchell, J. Willis Martin, and Hampton L. Carson, were printed in 1915. Volume 17 covers from 1802 to 1805 and volume 18 covers from 1806 to 1809.

Volume 1 has been recently published by Robert L. Cable. THE STATUTES AT LARGE OF PENNSYLVANIA FROM 1682 TO 1700. Volume I: 1682 to 1700. Harrisburg: Legislative Reference Bureau, 2001. This book is now considered the official version of volume 1 of the STATUTES AT LARGE. Available at the Pennsylvania Legislative Reference Bureau website, at www.palrb.gov/preservation. It is also available in HeinOnline.

Beckman, Gail McKnight, ed. Statutes at Large of Pennsylvania During the Age of William Penn, Volume 1, 1680-1700. N.Y.: Vantage Pr., 1976.

This is the first volume of Pennsylvania constitution and statutory law from pre-colony to 1700, with an historical introduction. It includes the Duke of York's Laws, Charter of King Charles II to William Penn, the Great Law of 1682, three Frames of Government, and session laws. It was prepared on the bicentennial to replace the earlier edition of Staundford George et al., eds., *Charter to William Penn, and Laws of Pennsylvania*... (1879). Beckman provides a useful introduction to the early Pennsylvania laws. This volume is not considered official by the Pennsylvania Legislative Bureau. P.155, 383

LAWS OF PENNSYLVANIA. Harrisburg: 1776-.

The is the official collection of the chronological laws passed by the General Assembly. Constitutional amendments are published as Joint Resolutions after the general laws. Gubernatorial proclamations officially declare when the amendments have been approved or disapproved by the electorate.

3c. Topical Laws

PENNSYLVANIA CONSOLIDATED STATUTES. Harrisburg: Legislative Reference Bureau, 1970–. 8 vols.

The is the official, unannotated set of the codified statutes passed by the General Assembly under statutory law of 1970. Approximately 50% of the titles in the original Purdon's have been converted to the Consolidated Statutes. For a recent study of the codification, see Peter Egler, *Pennsylvania Statutory Codification Project—A Long and Winding Road*, LXXXIV PA. B. ASSN. Q. 87 (2013).

PURDON'S PENNSYLVANIA STATUTES ANNOTATED/PURDON'S PENNSYLVANIA CONSOLIDATED STATUTES ANNOTATED. Eagen, Minn: Thomson/West 1930—.

West's statutory compilation of Pennsylvania statutes under 77 titles and the incorporation of the revised Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes into the set.

4. Court Cases

The appellate courts of Pennsylvania include the Supreme Court, Superior Court, and Commonwealth Court; the trial courts before 1968 included the courts of common pleas, quarter sessions, oyer and terminer, orphans' courts, mayors courts, juvenile court and family court. The creation of a unified judicial system under Article V of the Constitution of 1968 provided for constitutional courts of Supreme, Superior, Commonwealth and courts of common pleas.

The Supreme Court reports are divided into three sets of reports: early state reports consisting of 60 volumes of reports reporting cases from 1754 to 1845. In 1845, the General

Assembly passed a law creating an official court reporter for the Supreme Court and a new set of official court reports entitled Pennsylvania State Reports. These reports currently consist of over 570 volumes. Since 1974, the reports have been published by West Publishing Co. (now Thomson/West) and are the same as the Atlantic Reporter 2d and 3d series.

The 1845 act further provided that there should be only two volumes a year published of Supreme Court cases. This led to the creation of five more nominative reports of twenty-three volumes that contain mostly late-nineteenth century cases not published in the official reports.

Pennsylvania Supreme Court opinions appear in the following reporters:

Name	Years	Abbreviation	Volumes
Pennsylvania State Reports Atlantic Reporter Atlantic Reporter Second Atlantic Reporter Third	1845- date 1885- 1938 1938 -	Pa. A. A.2d	573 200 999
Nominative Reporters			
Dallas	1754 - 1806	Dall.	4 vols.
Addison	1791 - 1799	Add.	1 vol.
Yeates	1791 - 1808	Yeates	4 vols.
Binney	1799 - 1814	Binn.	6 vols.
Sergeant and Rawle	1814 - 1828	Serg. & Rawle	17 vols.
Penrose & Watts	1829 - 1832	Pen. & W.	3 vols.
Rawle	1828 - 1835	Rawle	5 vols.
Watts	1832 - 1840	Watts	10vols.
Wharton	1835 - 1841	Whart	6 vols.
Watts and Sergeant	1841 - 1845	Watts & Serg.	9 vols.
Grant	1814 - 1863	Grant	3 vols.
Pennypacker	1881 - 1884	Pennyp.	4 vols
Walker	1855 - 1885	Walk.	4 vols.
Sadler	1885 - 1888	Sadler	10 vols.
Monaghan	1888 - 1890	Monag.	2 vols.

The official *Pennsylvania Superior Court Reports* stopped in 1997 (with volume 456) and *Pennsylvania Commonwealth Court Reports* stopped in 1995 (with volume 168). Both courts use the Atlantic Reporter 2d & 3d series as their recognized reporter. For purposes of this book, we have cited only to the *Atlantic Reporter* when available.

County court reports have a long history in Pennsylvania legal literature. Although Dallas's Reports contained cases from the Philadelphia courts, it was Alexander Addison's *Reports*, published in 1800, that was the first county report. In antebellum Pennsylvania, the *Legal Intelligencer* (1842–) in Philadelphia and the *Pittsburgh Legal Journal* (1853–) started as legal newspapers publishing Supreme Court and county court cases. In later nineteenth century other counties began publishing their own reports, many of which continue down to today with more than forty county reports published by the county bar associations.

In late nineteenth century, the *Pennsylvania District Court Reports* and the *Pennsylvania County Court Reports* were published. These two sets were combined into the *Pennsylvania District & County Reports* in 1918 that continue down to the present in a fifth series. In addition, all of the Pennsylvania cases published in the weekly *Legal Intelligencer* were republished in a set called *Weekly Notes of Cases* (1875-1899) 44 vols. Sometimes Supreme Court cases can be found in this set and not in any of the other Supreme Court reports.

All three appellate courts and the *Pennsylvania District & County Court Reports* can be found in the Pennsylvania databases in both Westlaw and Lexis.

For a more detailed history of Supreme Court, see Joel Fishman, *The Reports of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania*, 87 LAW LIBR. J. 643 (1995).

The court reports are available in the State Historical Cases Library from 1789 to 1963 in HeinOnline.

Brightly, Frederick C. Reports of Cases Decided by the Judges of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania in the Court of Nisi Prius at Philadelphia, and also in the Supreme Court with Notes and References to Recent Decisions. Philadelphia: James Kay, Jun. & Brother, 1851.

PENNSYLVANIA COLONIAL CASES: THE ADMINISTRATION OF LAW IN PENNSYLVANIA PRIOR TO A.D. 1700 AS SHOWN IN THE CASES DECIDED AND IN THE COURT PROCEEDINGS (Samuel W. Pennypacker, ed. Philadelphia: R. Welsh, 1892). P.302

5. Judicial Biography

Biographical information on the judiciary can be found in several sources. The PENNSYLVANIA MANUAL beginning from volume 83 (1937) contains biographical information on the appellate and county judges. It is published every two years in the odd year in December. Judges appointed for under two years or who do not win re-election may be missing from the volumes. The set is currently up to volume 124 (2019) available on the Department of General Services website, at www.dgs.pa.gov. Another biographical dictionary is THE AMERICAN BENCH (Minneapolis: Reginald Bishop Foster & Associates, 1977). The appellate justices/judges have biographical information available at www.pacourts.us. Joel Fishman has compiled a Biographical Dictionary of the Justices of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania 1684-2022 that contains 176 justices posted as individual justices on the Supreme Court website. Many of the colonial members of the Pro vincial Court or justices of the peace were also legislators whose biographies can be found in Craig Horle, Gen. Ed. LAWMAKING AND LEGISLATORS IN PENNSYLVANIA: A BIOGRAPHICAL DIRECTORY, see below P.919. Older biographical information can be found in the TWENTIETH CENTURY BENCH AND BAR OF PENNSYLVANIA. (Chicago: H.C. Cooper, Jr., Bro. & Co., 1903) and Frank M. Eastman, COURTS AND LAWYERS OF PENNSYLVANIA: A HISTORY (New York: The American Historical Society, 1922). Older county histories usually contain a chapter on the bench and bar. For Philadelphia, see John Hill Martin, MARTIN'S BENCH AND BAR OF PHILADELPHIA . . . (Philadelphia: R. Welsh & Co. 1883) and J. Thomas Scharf and Thompson Westcott, HISTORY OF PHILADELPHIA, 1609–1884 (Philadelphia: L. H. Everts, 1884). Volume 2 has the chapter on the bench and bar. For Allegheny County, see Joel Fishman, JUDGES OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY, FIFTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT, PENNSYLVANIA (1788-2022) (3d ed. 2022).

For a history of the early Pennsylvania Supreme Court, see G.S. Rowe, EMBATTLED BENCH: THE PENNSYLVANIA SUPREME COURT AND THE FORGING OF A DEMOCRATIC SOCIETY 1684–1809 (Newark: University of Delaware Press, 1994). A new history of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court is John J. Hare, Ed. THE PENNSYLVANIA SUPREME COURT IN THE LIFE AND LAW OF THE COMMONWEALTH, 1684–2016 (State College: PSU Press, 2016). For the Pennsylvania Superior Court, see Patrick R. Tamilia and John J. Hare, KEYSTONE OF JUSTICE: THE PENNSYLVANIA SUPERIOR COURT (Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission for the Pennsylvania Superior Court, 2000). For the Commonwealth Court, see Kristen W. Brown and Blair T. Preiser, Jurisdiction of the Commonwealth Court—Forty Years of Proving the Drafters Rights. 20 WIDENER L.J. 5 (2010) and the various articles in *Widener Law Journal* published in November 2010 and 2011. For the Court of Judicial Discipline, see John S. Summers and Rebecca S. Melley. *The Court of Judicial Discipline: A Review of the First Twenty Years*, 84 PA. B. ASS'N Q. 1 (2013). For a more detailed account of the Court of Judicial Discipline, see Sarah A. Steers and Joel Fishman, PENNSYLVANIA JUDICIAL DISCIPLINE HANDBOOK (2018).

6. Attorneys-General Opinions

As the chief law enforcement officer of the Commonwealth, the Attorney General is responsible to provide legal advice to the departments and agencies of the state government. Since 1887, the Attorneys-General of Pennsylvania have published annual reports (under different titles) of their opinions. For some years there were both formal and informal opinions and at times, memorandum opinions (see 1957 volume). Numbers of opinions ran also numerically over a period of time; in the 1970s, the numbers started with number one each year. There were annual volumes from 1971 to 1978 and then volumes for 1981 to 1984, 1984-1988, and 1989 to 1992. Since 1992, single opinions issued are published in the *Pennsylvania Bulletin*.

The latest cumulative indexes are for 1933-43 and 1943-53.

The editor has added indexes to the bound volumes for 1961–62, 1963–66, 1967–69, 1974 available at the Allegheny County Law Library electronic catalog.

The full collection of Attorneys-General opinions from 1885 to present are available now at the Attorney-General Website (www.attorneygeneral.gov), under the Tab: The Office, at https://www.attorneygeneral.gov/The Office/Official Attorney General Opinions/.

7. Other Sources

Adams, Samuel. THE WRITINGS OF SAMUEL ADAMS (Henry Alonzo Cushing, ed. 1906). P.3, 743

Hamilton, Andrew. Defense of John Peter Zenger on Charge of Seditious Libel (1735), at http://www.uark.edu:80/depts/comminfo/cambridge/zenger.html P.298

THE LAWS AND LIBERTIES OF MASSACHUSETTS; REPRINTED FROM THE COPY OF THE 1648 EDITION IN THE HENRY E. HUNTINGTON LIBRARY, WITH AN INTRODUCTION BY MAX FARRAND (1929). P.386

Madison, James. WRITINGS (Library of America 1999). P.158

THE MASSACHUSETTS BODY OF LIBERTY [THE LIBERTIES OF THE MASSACHUSETTS COLONIE IN NEW ENGLAND] 1641, OLD SOUTH LEAFLETS (BOSTON: DIRECTORS OF THE OLD SOUTH WORK (1905). Vol. 7., http://history.hanover.edu/texts/masslib.htm P.386, 416, 431

Penn, William. THE GREAT CASE OF LIBERTY OF CONSCIENCE (London, 1670). P.153

Penn, William. THE PAPERS OF WILLIAM PENN (Mary Maples Dunn, Richard S. Dunn, editors; associate editors, Richard A. Ryerson, Scott M. Wilds; assistant editor, Jean R. Soderlund 1981-1987). 5 vols. P.151, 170, 173, 238, 239

v. 1. 1644-1679; v. 2. 1680-1684 / editors, Richard S. Dunn, Mary Maples Dunn P.238; associate editors, Scott M. Wilds, Richard A. Ryerson, Jean. R. Soderlund; special editor, Ned C. Landsman.; v. 3. 1685-1700 / editors, Marianne S. Wokeck ... [et al.] P.238; general editors, Richard S. Dunn, Mary Maples Dunn.; v. 4. 1701-1718 / editors, Craig W. Horle ... [et al.]; general editors, Richard S. Dunn, Mary Maples Dunn.; v. 5. William Penn's published writings, 1660-1726: an interpretive bibliography / [edited by] Edwin B. Bronner, David Fraser. P.238, 239

B. Federal Primary Sources

1. Constitutional Documents

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA: ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION. The annotated edition of the U.S. Constitution is now available online and updated annually. It is available at www.govinfo.gov, the website for the Government Printing Office and also at the Legal Information Institute, https://www.law.cornell.edu/constitution. P.756

Elliot, Jonathan. Debates in the Several State Conventions on the Adoption of the Federal Constitution as recommended by the General Convention at Philadelphia, in 1787. Together with the Journal of the Federal Convention, Luther Martin's Letter, Yate's minutes, Congressional opinions, Virginia and Kentucky resolutions of '98-'99, and other illustrations of the Constitution. Collected and Rev. from Contemporary Publications, By Jonathan Elliot. Pub. under the Sanction of Congress. 2d ed., with considerable additions. Philadelphia, J.B. Lippincott & co.; Washington, Taylor & Maury, 1836-59. 5 vols. P.751. Elliot's Debates can be found at the Library of Congress, A Century of Lawmaking for a New Nation, https://memory.loc.gov/ammem/amlaw/lawhome.html.

THE FEDERALIST; A COMMENTARY ON THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES, BEING A COLLECTION OF ESSAYS WRITTEN IN SUPPORT OF THE CONSTITUTION AGREED UPON SEPTEMBER 17, 1787, BY THE FEDERAL CONVENTION. New York: J. and M. Lean, 1788. 2 vols. P.8, 27, 543, 656, 657, 660, 678, 688, 751, 756

It is available at the Library of Congress, A Century of Lawmaking for a New Nation, Available at http://memory.loc.gov/const/fed/fedpapers.html.

There are many editions of this important work including Jacob Cooke in 1961, Edward Earle in 1976, Max Beloff in 1987, John C. Hamilton in 1998, and George W. Carey and James McClellan in 2001. New American Library ed. may be the one used throughout (listed on p.27)

Farrand, Max, ed. THE RECORDS OF THE FEDERAL CONVENTION OF 1787 (1911) (rev ed. 1937) 4 vols. P.751

It is available at the Library of Congress, A Century of Lawmaking for a New Nation, at http://memory.loc.gov/ammem/amlaw/lwfr.html

Jensen, Merrill, ed. THE DOCUMENTARY HISTORY OF THE RATIFICATION OF THE CONSTITUTION (1976).

Volume 2 deals with Pennsylvania.

Available at the University of Wisconsin,

https://search.library.wisc.edu/digital/AQSNP4IU7S6X5W8E

2. Congressional Documents

JOURNALS OF THE CONTINENTAL CONGRESS 1774-1789 (W. Ford ed. 1904-37). 34 vols. Available at, http://memory.loc.gov/ammem/amlaw/lwjc.html. P.303

United States. Congress. The Debates and Proceedings in the Congress of the United STATES: WITH AN APPENDIX, CONTAINING IMPORTANT STATE PAPERS AND PUBLIC DOCUMENTS, AND ALL THE LAWS OF A PUBLIC NATURE; WITH A COPIOUS INDEX. Washington, D.C.: Gales and Seaton, 1834-1856. 42 vols. Popularly known as the Annals of Congress. P.756

Available at, http://memory.loc.gov/ammem/amlaw/lwac.html

Covers from 1789-1824.

C. English Primary Sources

There are two major sets of English statutes published chronologically:

Pickering, Daniel. STATUTES AT LARGE. Cambridge: Printed by J. Betham, 1762-1807. 46 vols.

Ruffhead, Owen. The statutes at large, from Magna Carta, to the end of the last PARLIAMENT, 1761. In eight volumes. London, Printed by Mark Baskett, and by the assigns of Robert Baskett, and by Henry Woodfall and William Strahan, 1769-1771. 10 vols.

THE STATUTES AT LARGE: CONTEYNING ALL SUCH ACTS WHICH AT ANY TIME HERETOFORE HAUE BEENE EXTANT IN PRINT FROM MAGNA CHARTA, VNTILL THE SIXTEENTH YEERE OF THE RAIGNE OF OUR MOST GRATIOUS SOUERAIGNE LORD IAMES, BY THE GRACE OF GOD KING OF ENGLAND, SCOTLAND, FRANCE AND IRELAND, DEFENDER OF THE FAITH, &C. DIUIDED INTO TWO VOLUMES: WITH MARGINALL NOTES, AND DIUERS NECESSARY TABLES NEWLY ADDED THEREUNTO. TOGETHER WITH ESPECIALL MARKES WHEREBY THE READER MAY EASILY KNOW WHICH OF THE SAME ACTS ARE WHOLY VOYD, EITHER BY EXPIRATION, OR REPEALE. London: Printed Bonham Norton, and Iohn Bill, deputie printers for the Kings most excellent Maiestie, M.DC.XVIII. P.440, 440.

The English nominative reports from the 1500s to the mid-1800s are too many to cite in this bibliography, but most of these cases have been reprinted in the comprehensive collection entitled ENGLISH REPORTS, FULL REPRINT. (1900-1932). 178 vols. Available in HeinOnline.

Besides the individual reports, there have been various sets published since the seventeenth century containing political trials and major criminal cases. The most comprehensive set published is: Howell, Thomas B. A COMPLETE COLLECTION OF STATE TRIALS AND PROCEEDINGS FOR HIGH TREASON AND OTHER CRIMES AND MISDEMEANORS FROM THE EARLIEST PERIOD TO THE YEAR 1783. London, T. C. Hansard for Longman, Hurst, Rees, Orme, and Brown [etc.] 1816-28. 34 vols. P.305, 346, 446, 880

II. Secondary Sources

A. Bibliographical Sources.

The expansion of state constitutional law following Justice William Brennan's seminal article in 1977 can be followed by the excellent biographies found in RUTGERS LAW JOURNAL. Besides annual bibliographies, there are two cumulative bibliographies:

King, Susan. State Constitutional Law Bibliography: 1989-1999, 31 RUTGERS L. J. 1623 (2000). P.344

Maltz, Earl M., Robert F. Williams & Michael Araten, Selected Bibliography On State Constitutional Law, 1980-1989, 20 RUTGERS L. J. 1093 (1989).

The other major source for bibliography is the treatise by Jennifer Friesen:

Friesen, Jennifer. STATE CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: LITIGATING INDIVIDUAL RIGHTS, CLAIMS AND DEFENSES. (2d ed. 1995) (3rd ed. 2003). Both editions have been cited in the articles depending on which edition the author used. See page citations below.

B. Secondary Works Specifically on the Pennsylvania General Assembly

Hoerle, Craig W., gen. ed. LAWMAKING AND LAWMAKERS IN COLONIAL PENNSYLVANIA. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1991-2007. 4 vols. in 3.

Standard biographical directory of the colonial Pennsylvania legislature. Volume 1 covers from 1680 to 1709; volume 2 from 1710 to 1756; volume 3 from 1757 to 1775. Introductions contain important summaries of the legislative activity during the period covered. The authors present a comprehensive review of the growth of the Assembly as an institution, discussing election of members, procedures developed, legislation enacted, role of Quakers and religion in the colony, the controversy over the oaths in early eighteenth century, and problems of defense. Available online

Leonard, Sister Joan de Lourdes. *The Composition, Organization, and Legislature Procedure of the Pennsylvania Assembly, 1682-1776.* Ph.D. Diss. U of Pennsylvania, 1947.

Leonard, Sister Joan de Lourdes. *The Organization and Procedure of the Pennsylvania Assembly,* 1682-1776, 72 PA. MAG. HIST. & BIOG. 225-39, 376-412 (1948).

Wendel, Thomas. The *Speaker of the House, Pennsylvania, 1701-1776*, 97 PA. MAG. HIST. & BIOG. 3-21 (1973).

C. Digests

Pepper, George Wharton and William Draper Lewis. A DIGEST OF DECISIONS AND ENCYCLOPAEDIA OF PENNSYLVANIA LAW.... Philadelphia: R. Welsh & Co., 1898-1906. 16 vols. P.492

This is a useful older digest that covers all published court cases from *Dallas's Reports* to the end of the nineteenth century, sometimes with more detailed digests than the current *Vale Pennsylvania Digest*.

VALE PENNSYLVANIA DIGEST. St. Paul: West Publishing Co., 1939-1985. 45 vols.

The standard West digest covers all published court reports from 1754 to 1938. Coverage includes Pennsylvania federal, state and county cases (includes individual county cases, e.g., *Legal Intelligencer* or *Pittsburgh Legal Journal* and *Pennsylvania District & County Reports*).

WEST'S PENNSYLVANIA DIGEST 2D SERIES. (West Pub. Co., 1985—).

This is the current digest for Pennsylvania cases from 1938 to present. It is kept up to date with pocket parts and recompiled volumes. Coverage includes Pennsylvania federal, state, and county cases (only those reported in the *Pennsylvania District & County Reports*).

D. Citators

SHEPARD'S PENNSYLVANIA CITATIONS. 9th ed. Colorado Springs, Col.: Shepard's Citations, 2004. 10 vols. for Cases; 4 volumes for Statutes. The Case Edition covers federal cases that originate in Pennsylvania (Supreme Court, U.S. Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit, U.S. District Courts, and from the Supreme, Superior, and Commonwealth Courts and common pleas court opinions published in the *Pennsylvania District & County Reports*. In addition, it contains the appellate court cases reported in the *Atlantic Reporter* 1st, 2d, and 3d series. Volume 4 of the Case Edition (6th ed. 1987) contains the individual county reports from their first volume to the early 1970s.

The Statute Edition contains four volumes and a supplement. Volume 1 contains the Constitution of Pennsylvania for 1874 and 1968, but not the earlier versions. Therefore, one has to perform a Westlaw or Lexis search for cases dealing with earlier constitutional law. For statutory law, *Smith's Laws* and *Laws of Pennsylvania* can be "shepardized" but not the *Statutes at Large*. *NOTE:* This is available only in the bound volumes not available electronically in Lexis. Both Purdon's Statutes and the Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes can also be found in the volumes.

E. Treatises and Articles

The titles listed here are books and articles taken from the footnotes of the second edition; it does not cite to periodical articles found only in the first edition that did not carry over to the new edition. Citations are to the pages that the works are cited on rather than the section numbers.

1. Pennsylvania Books

The four Pennsylvania treatises on constitutional law cited throughout the book are:

Branning, Rosalind L. PENNSYLVANIA CONSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT (1960). Standard constitutional history of Pennsylvania down to 1960 (originally author's Ph.D. Thesis at University of Pittsburgh). P.3, 38, 40, 41, 43, 44, 52, 56, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 69, 70, 72, 73, 128, 157, 160, 162, 250, 297, 534, 858, 862, 866, 966, 969, 970, 973, 975, 987, 991.

Buckalew, Charles R. An Examination of the Constitution of Pennsylvania. Exhibiting the Derivation and History of its Several Provisions, with Observations and Occasional Notes Thereon, References to Judicial and Other Opinions upon Their Construction and Application, To Statutes for Their Enforcement, and to Parallel Provisions in the Constitutions of Other American States. Philadelphia: Kay and Brother, 1883. P.92, 93, 150, 163, 235, 240, 249, 253, 270, 276, 402, 487, 534, 547, 634, 638, 707, 885

Buckalew was a delegate to the Constitutional Convention. Work is especially good for providing references to the debates in the constitutional convention which numbers over 7,000 pages.

White, Thomas Raeburn. Commentaries on the Constitution of Pennsylvania (1907). White was a law professor at the University of Pennsylvania Law School. It is the most scholarly work on the Constitution of 1874 but limited in coverage to the early years of the twentieth century. P.2, 3, 36, 37, 41, 43, 58, 60, 62, 65, 67, 93, 127, 146, 147, 157, 159, 189, 208, 224, 235-36, 239, 240, 249, 252, 276, 282, 283, 396, 401, 411, 413, 445, 481, 487, 488, 490, 528, 534, 537, 538, 539, 542, 547, 628, 638, 652, 656, 657, 660, 709, 724, 758, 885, 920, 987

Woodside, Robert E. Pennsylvania Constitutional Law (1985). Only book on the Constitution of 1968, but is limited in scope because it covers only certain Articles and Sections. P.65, 66, 73, 146, 251, 278, 384, 467, 481, 537, 547, 576, 627, 758, 783, 796, 805, 862, 890, 942, 971, 975.

2. Books and Articles

Abrahamson, Shirley S. Criminal Law and State Constitutions: The Emergence of State Constitutional Law, 63 Tex. L. Rev. 1141 (1985). P.22

Abram, Suzanne L. *Note: Problems of Contemporaneous Construction in State Constitutional Interpretation*, 36 Brandeis L. J. 613 (2000). P.527

Abrams, Lauren Handel. *Thirtieth Annual Review of Criminal Procedure, Introduction and Guide for Users: II. Preliminary Proceedings: Bail*, 89 GEO. L.J. 1324 (2001). P.614.

Adams, C. The Life and Works of John Adams (1856). P.347

Adams, Willi Paul. The First American Constitutions: Republican Ideology and the Making of the State Constitutions in the Revolutionary Era (1980). P.2, 3, 21, 293, 736, 857, 919

Adler, Amy. Girls! Girls! : The Supreme Court Confronts the G-String. 80 N.Y.U. L. REV. 1108 (2005). P.342

Aho, Jon J. A Case of Good Intentions: The Vermont Supreme Court and State Constitutional Protection of Civil Rights and Liberties. 60 Alb. L. Rev. 1845 (1997). P.180.

Alexander, Edward R. Note, The Right of Privacy and the New York State Constitution: An Analytical Framework. 8 Touro L. Rev. 725 (1992). P.874

Alexander, John K. *Pennsylvania: Pioneer in Safeguarding Personal Rights* in the BILL OF RIGHTS AND THE STATES: THE COLONIAL AND REVOLUTIONARY ORIGINS OF AMERICAN LIBERTIES 308-332 (Patrick T. Conley & John P. Kaminski eds., 1992). P.143, 149, 158, 294, 301, 302, 881, 882, 883, 881, 882

All Courts Should Be Open. 30 PITTSBURGH L.J. 362 (1883). P.550

Altschuler, Bruce E. State ERAs and Employment Discrimination. 65 TEMP. L. REV. 1267 (1992). P.951

Amar, Akhil Reed. *The Bill of Rights and the Fourteenth Amendment*. 101 YALE L. J. 1193 (1992). P.389, 471

Amar, Akhil Reed. THE CONSTITUTION AND CRIMINAL PROCEDURE: FIRST PRINCIPLES (1997). P.347

Amsterdam, Anthony G. *Perspectives on the Fourth Amendment*. 58 MINN. L. REV. 349 (1974). P.347

Andrew Hamilton, Defense of John Peter Zenger on Charges of Seditious Libel (1735), at http://www.uark.edu:80/depts/comminfo/cambridge/zenger.html. P.298

Andrews, Carol Rice. A Right of Access to Court Under the Petition Clause of the First Amendment: Defining the Right. 60 OHIO St. L. J. 557 (1999). P.532, 533, 548, 556, 559

Antineau, Chester. Commentaries on the Constitution of the United States (1960). P.689

Ayres, Susan. Coming Out: Decision-Making in State and Federal Sodomy Cases. 62 ALB. L. REV. 355 (1998). P.936

Babcock, Hope M. Has the U.S. Supreme Court Finally Drained the Swamp of Takings Jurisprudence?: The Impact of Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council on Wetlands and Coastal Barrier Beaches. 19 HARV. ENVTL. L. REV. 1 (1995). P.828

Bachmann, E. Theodore. *Penn's Holy Experiment in Context: Some Aspects of a Nascent Ecumenism as Seen in the Lutheran Involvement (1638-1762)*, in QUEST FOR FAITH, QUEST FOR FREEDOM: ASPECTS OF PENNSYLVANIA'S RELIGIOUS FREEDOM 41 (Otto Reimherr, ed.1987). P.160, 276

Bailey, W. F. A TREATISE ON THE LAW OF HABEAS CORPUS AND SPECIAL REMEDIES (1913). P.620

Bailyn, Bernard. THE IDEOLOGICAL ORIGINS OF THE AMERICAN REVOLUTION (1967). P.532.

Baker, John S., Jr. Respecting a State's Tort Law, While Confining its Reach to that State. 31 SETON HALL L. REV. 698 (2001). P.559.

Ball, William Bentley. *The Religion Clauses of the Pennsylvania Constitution*. 3 WIDENER J. PUB. L. 709 (1994). P.157, 161, 192, 201, 241

Barrington, Boyd C. THE MAGNA CARTA AND OTHER GREAT CHARTERS OF ENGLAND (1900). P.467

Baughman, Jay Allen. *The Statute of Repose: Ohio Legislators Attempt to Lock the Courthouse Doors to Product-injured Persons.* 25 CAP. U. L. REV. 671 (1996). P.560.

Bauman, John H. Remedies Provisions in State Constitutions and the Proper Role of the State Courts. 26 Wake Forest L. Rev. 237 (1991). P.527, 528, 529, 530, 533, 559, 560, 561.

Baumann, Roland M., Rodger C. Henderson, Owen S. Ireland. PENNSYLVANIA AND THE BILL OF RIGHTS (Robert G. Crist, ed., Pa Historical Soc'y, Pa. History Studies, Series No. 22). P.35, 37, 39, 48.

Beatty, Edward Corbyn Obert. WILLIAM PENN AS SOCIAL PHILOSOPHER (1939). P.149, 150, 151.

Beck, Phyllis W. and Joanne Alfano Baker. *An Analysis of the Impact of the Pennsylvania Equal Rights Amendment*. 3 WIDENER J. PUB. L. 743 (1994). P.834, 843, 875, 957.

Beck, Phyllis W. and Patricia A. Daly. *Pennsylvania's Equal Rights Amendment Law: What Does it Portend for the Future?* 74 TEMP. L. REV. 579 (2001). P.875-76

Beck, Phyllis W. Equal Rights Amendment: The Pennsylvania Experience. 81 DICK. L. REV. 395 (1977). P.875, 876

Berkowitz, Jessica. Computer-Aided Destruction: Regulating 3D-Printed Firearms Without Infringing on Individual Liberties. 33 BERKELY TECH. L.J. 51 (2018). P.729

Bentham, Jeremy P.93

Bernard, Michael M. Constitutions, Taxation and Land Policy (1980). 2 vols. P.862, 863, 865

Bhagwat, Ashutosh. The Democratic First Amendment. 110 Nw U. L. REV. 1097 (2016). P.707.

Bilionis, Louis D. Liberty, the "Law of the Land," and Abortion in North Carolina. 71 N.C. L. REV. 1839 (1993). P.874

Black, Charles L. Foreword: "State Action," Equal Protection, and California's Proposition 14. 81 HARV. L. REV. 69 (1967). P.941

BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (4th ed. 1968). P.440

BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (6th ed. 1990). P.619

BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (7th ed. 1999). P.146, 147, 626, 641, 686

Blackstone, William. COMMENTARIES ON THE LAWS OF ENGLAND. (4 vols. 1765-1769). The first edition was in 1765 to 1769; it reached a fifteenth edition by the early nineteenth century in England. In the United States, the first American edition was published in 1772. Later Americans editors included George Sharswood (1860), Thomas M. Cooley (1872), William Draper Lewis (1897), James DeWitt Andrews (1899), and William Carey Jones (1916). P.309, 386, 430, 443, 528, 534-35, 553, 687, 696, 697, 698.

Blasi, Vincent. *The Checking Value in First Amendment Theory*. 1977 Am. B. FOUND. RES. J. 521 (1977). P.298

Bogus, Carl T. *The Hidden History of the Second Amendment*. 31 U.C. DAVIS L. REV. 309 (1998). P.720, 721

Bogus, Carl T. *The History and Politics of Second Amendment Scholarship: a Primer.* 76 CHI.-KENT L. REV. 2 (2000). P.720

Boldt, Richard and Dan Friedman, Constitutional Incorporation: A Consideration of the Judicial Function in State and Federal Constitutional Interpretation. 76 MD. L. REV. 3019 (2017) P.22.

Bopp, Russell. A Wolf in Sheep's Clothing: Pennsylvania's Oil and Gas Lease Act and the Constitutionality of Forced Pooling. 52 DUQ. L. REV. 439 (2014).

Borden, Morton. JEWS, TURKS AND INFIDELS (1984). P.160, 240

Brauneis, Robert. The First Constitutionalist Tort: The Remedial Revolution in Nineteenth-Century State Just Compensation Law. 52 VAND. L. REV. 57 (1999). P.469

Brennan, William J., Jr. *State Constitutions and the Protection of Individual Rights*. 90 HARV. L. REV. 489 (1977). P.5, 20, 941, 942, 952.

Brennan, William J., Jr. *The Bill of Rights and the States*, in THE GREAT RIGHTS 67 (E. Cahn ed. 1963). P.21

Brenner, Donald B. *The Right of Access to Civil Courts Under State Constitutional Law: An Impediment to Modern Reforms, or a Receptacle of Important Substantive and Procedural Rights.* 13 RUTGERS L. J. 399 (1982). P.528.

Brod, Nicholas S. *Rethinking A Reinvigorated Right to Assemble*. 63 DUKE L.J. 155 (2013). P.705, 706.

Brody, David. Labor in Crisis; The Steel Strike of 1919 (1965). P.316

Broughton, Robert. *The Proposed Pennsylvania Declaration of Environmental Rights, Analysis of HB 958.* XLI PA. BAR Ass'n Q. 421 (1970). P.796, 797, 798, 799

Brown, Falk, Freedman. *The Equal Rights Amendment: A Constitutional Basis for Equal Rights for Women.* 80 YALE L. J. 871 (1971). P.833.

Brunhouse, Robert L. The Counter-Revolution in Pennsylvania, 1776-1790 (1942). P.294, 538, 548, 966, 967, 968.

Bryant, A. Christopher. What McDonald Means for Unenumerated Rights. 45 GA. L. REV. 1073 (2011). P.730

Burke, Erin K. *Utah's Open Courts: Will Hikes in Civil Filing Fees Restrict Access to Justice?* 2010 UTAH L. REV. 201 (2010). P.530.

Burkoff, John M. *Individual Rights and the Pennsylvania Constitution: Is There a State Action Requirement?* 67 TEMP. L. REV. 1051 (1994). P.758

Burkoff, John M. Not So Private Searches and the Constitution. 66 CORNELL L. REV. 627 (1981). P.960

Burkoff, Nancy M. *Individual Rights and the Pennsylvania Constitution: Is There a State Action Requirement?* 67 TEMP. L. REV. 1051 (1994). P.939

Calabresi, Guido. A COMMON LAW FOR THE AGE OF STATUTES (1982). P.915

Calabresi, Steven Gow, James Lindgren, Hannah M. Begley, Kathryn L. Dore & Sarah E. Agudo. *Individual Rights Under State Constitutions In 2018: What Rights are Deeply Rooted in a Modern-Day Consensus of the States?* 94 NOTRE DAME L. REV. 49 (2018). P.731

Caldwell, Lynton K. The Case for an Amendment to the Constitution of the United States for the Protection of the Environment. 1 Duke Envil. L. & Pol'y F. 1 (1991). P.794

Cameron, James Duke. *The Place for Judicial Activism on the Part of a State's Highest Court.* 4 HASTINGS CONST. L. Q. 279 (1977). P.22.

Cantor, Norman F. THE CIVILIZATION OF THE MIDDLE AGES (1994). P.416, 430

Carbone, June. Seeing Through the Emperor's New Clothes: Rediscovery of Basic Principles in the Administration of Bail. 34 Syracuse L. Rev. 517 (1983). P.612, 613

CARDIFF RECORDS. P.396.

Carson, Wallace P., Jr. "Last Things Last": A Methodological Approach to Legal Argument in State Courts. 19 WILLAMETTE L. REV. 641 (1983). P.22.

Chemerinsky, Erwin. Rethinking State Action. 80 Nw. U. L. Rev. 503 (1985). P.939

Chitty, Joseph. A Practical Treatise on the Criminal Law (2d ed. London, S. Brooke, 1826). P.686

Chupkovich, Patricia J. Comment: Statutory Caps: An Involuntary Contribution to the Medical Malpractice Insurance Crisis or a Reasonable Mechanism for Obtaining Affordable Health Care? 9 J. Contemp. H. L. & Pol'y 337 (1993). P.556, 565, 569.

Church, William S. A TREATISE ON THE WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (1884). P.618

Cirillo, Vincent A. Curtis v. Kline: The Pennsylvania Supreme Court Declares Act 62 Unconstitutional—A Triumph for Equal Protection Law. 34 Duq. L. Rev. 471 (1996). P.114

Clayton, Cornell W. Toward a Theory of the Washington Constitution. 37 GONZ. L. REV. 41 (2002). P.64,70.

Cohen, David S., *The Paradox of McDonald v. City of Chicago*. 79 GEO. WASH. L. REV. 823 (2011). P.730

Cohen, William. State Law in Equality Clothing: A Comment on Allegheny Pittsburgh Coal Company v. County Commission. 38 UCLA L. REV. 87 (1990). P.863

Coke, Edward. The Second Part of the Institutes of the Laws of England, Containing the Exposition of Many Ancient and Other Statutes. (1662)(reprint 1797 edition, William S. Hein & Co., 1986). P.532, 533, 553.

Colb, Sherry F. What is a Search? Two Conceptual Flaws in Fourth Amendment Doctrine. 55 Stan. L. Rev. 119 (2002). P.352

Cole, Kevin. Federal and State "State Action": The Undercritical Embrace of a Hypercriticized Doctrine. 24 GA. L. REV. 327 (1990). P.939, 941

Collins, Ronald K. L. & Peter J. Galie, *Models of Post Incorporation Judicial Review: 1985 Survey of State Constitutional Rights Decisions.* 55 U. CINN. L. REV. 317 (1986). P.12, 23.

Collins, Ronald K. L. et al., *State High Courts, State Constitutions, and Individual Rights Litigation Since 1980: A Judicial Survey.* 16 Publius: The Journal of Federalism 141 (1986), reprinted in 13 Hastings Const. L.Q. 599 (1986). P.25, 875.

Comfort, William Wistar. WILLIAM PENN AND OUR LIBERTIES (1947). P.149

Congress of the U.S., Office of Technology Assessment. Intellectual Property Rights in an Age of Electronics and Information (1986). P.136.

THE CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION AND THE FORMATION OF THE UNION 29 (Winston U. Solberg ed., 2d ed. 1990). P.966

Cook, Don. THE LONG FUSE: HOW ENGLAND LOST THE AMERICAN COLONIES (1995). P.743

Cornell, Saul. "To Assemble Together for Their Common Good": History, Ethnography, and the Original Meanings of the Rights of Assembly and Speech. 84 FORDHAM L. REV. 915, 931–32 (2015). P.704.

Corwin, Edward S. The Doctrine of Due Process of Law Before the Civil War. 24 HARV. L. REV.366 (1911). P.468

Cress, Lawrence D. *An Armed Community: The Origins and Meaning of the Right to Bear Arms*. 71 J. AM HIST. 22 (1984). P.732

Crosskey, William Winslow. Politics and the Constitution in the History of the United States, (1953). 2 vols. P.658

Cuddihy, William J. THE FOURTH AMENDMENT: ORIGINS AND ORIGINAL MEANING 602-1791. Oxford: Oxford U. Pr., 2009. P.347

Curry, Thomas J. The First Freedoms 202 (1986). P.143, 189, 190, 242

Darlington, Ronald et al. PENNSYLVANIA APPELLATE PRACTICE (2d ed. 1997). 3 vols. P.802, 807

Davies, Thomas Y. Recovering the Original Fourth Amendment. 98 MICH. L. REV. 547 (1999). P.347

Davies, Thomas Y. The Fictional Character of Law-and-Order Originalism: a Case Study of the Distortions and Evasions of Framing-era Arrest Doctrine in Atwater v. Lago Vista. 37 WAKE FOREST L. REV. 239 (2002). P.467-68

DeGraffenreid, Jeffrey. Testing the Constitutionality of Tort Reform With a Quid Pro Quo Analysis: Is Kansas' Judicial Approach an Adequate Substitute for a More Traditional Constitutional Requirement. 31 WASHBURN L. J. 314 (1992). P.575.

Dernbach, John C. Taking the Pennsylvania Constitution Seriously When It Protects the Environment: Part I—An Interpretative Framework for Article I, Section 27. 103 DICK. L. REV. 693 (1999). P.794

Dernbach, John C. Taking the Pennsylvania Constitution Seriously When It Protects the Environment: Part II—Environmental Rights and Public Trust. 104 DICK. L. REV. 97 (1999). P.794, 819, 824

Dernbach, John C. and Edmund J. Sonnenberg. A Legislative History of Article I, Section 27 of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Showing Source Documents. Widener Law School Legal Studies Research Paper Series No. 1418 (2014). P.794, 796

Dernbach, John C. and Edmund J. Sonnenberg. *A Legislative History of Article I, Section 27 of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania*. 24 WIDENER L.J. 181 (2015). P.796

Dernbach, John C. and Marc Prokopchak. *Recognition of Environmental Rights for Pennsylvania Citizens: A Tribute to Chief Justice Castille*. 53 Duq. L. REV. 335 (2015). P.806, 807

Dernbach, John C., Kenneth T. Kristl, James R. May. *Recognition of Environmental Rights for Pennsylvania Citizens: Pennsylvania Environmental Defense Foundation v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania*. 70 RUTGERS U.L. REV. 803 (2018). Reprinted in Environmental LAW FORUM 2019. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: PBI, 2019. E53-E108. [Chapter 2. The Environmental Rights Amendment Now, Section 2]. P.794, 829

Developments in the Law: The Interpretation of State Constitutional Rights. 95 Harv. L. Rev. 1324 (1982). P.560.

Devlin, John. Constructing an Alternative to "State Action" as a Limit on State Constitutional Rights Guarantees: A Survey, Critique and Proposal. 21 RUTGERS L. J. 819 (1990). P.876, 939, 951

Devlin, John. *Privacy and Abortion Rights Under the Louisiana State Constitution: Could Roe v. Wade be Alive and Well in the Bayou State?* 51 LA. L. REV. 685 (1991). P.936

Devlin, John M. State Constitutional Autonomy Rights in an Age of Federal Retrenchment: Some Thoughts on the Interpretation of State Rights Derived from Federal Sources. 3 Emerging Issues in St. Const. L. 195 (1990). P.936

Dickson, Samuel. The Development of Pennsylvania Constitutional Restraints Upon the Power and Procedure of the Legislature. 2 Rep. Pa. Bar Ass'n. 2 (1896). P.858

DiPietro, Patrice Wade. Adult Movie Theater Condemnation Does Not Violate Free Expression

Guarantees. 9 No. 5 LAWYERS J. 3 (March 2, 2007). P.342

Dishman, Robert B. STATE CONSTITUTIONS: THE SHAPE OF THE DOCUMENT (1968). P.21

Dodd, Walter F. The Revision and Amendment of State Constitutions (1910). P.968, 972

Dolliver, James M. *The Washington Constitution and "State Action": The View of the Framers.* 22 WILLIAMETTE L. REV. 445 (1986). P.943

Dorsen, Norman and Susan Deller Ross. *The Necessity of a Constitutional Amendment*. 6 HARV. C.R.-C.L.L.REV. 216 (1971). P.834

Douglas, Charles G., III, *State Judicial Activism—The New Role for State Bills of* Rights. 12 SUFFOLK U. L. REV. 1123 (1978). P.22.

Draper, Theodore. A STRUGGLE FOR POWER: THE AMERICAN REVOLUTION (1912). P.742, 743

Drinan, Robert F. Reflections on the Demise of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act. 86 GEO. L.J. 101 (1997). P.179

Dubofsky, Melvyn & Foster Rhea Dulles. LABOR IN AMERICA: A HISTORY (4th ed. 1984). P.24.

Duker, William F. A CONSTITUTIONAL HISTORY OF HABEAS CORPUS (1980). P.619

Dunaway, Waywood Fuller. A HISTORY OF PENNSYLVANIA (1948). P.156

Dworkin, R. Taking Rights Seriously (1978). P.915

Ehrman, Keith A. and Dennis A. Henigan, *The Second Amendment in the Twentieth Century: Have You Seen Your Militia Lately?* 15 U. DAYTON L. REV. 5 (1989). P.720-21

Elfenbein, Donald. *The Myth of Conservatism as a Constitutional Philosophy*. 71 IOWA L. REV. 401 (1986). P.42, 47, 49, 53-54, 56-57, 60, 542, 543.

El-Haj, Tabatha Abu. The Neglected Right of Assembly. 56 UCLA LAW REV. 543 (2009). P.705.

Elkins, Zachary, Tom Ginsburg, James Melton. *On the Influence of Magna Carta and Other Cultural Relics*. 47 INT'L REV. L. & ECON. 53 (2016). P.530, 531

Elrod, Jennifer Walker. Is the Jury Still Out?: A Case for the Continued Viability of the American Jury. 44 Tex. Tech. L. Rev. 303, 313 (2012). P.706.

Ely, John H. Another Spin on Allegheny Pittsburgh. 38 UCLA L. REV. 107 (1990). P.863

Emery, Lucilius A. *The Constitutional Right to Keep and Bear Arms*. 28 HARV. L. REV. 473 (1915). P.727

EMINENT DOMAIN AFTER KELO. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Pennsylvania Bar Institute, 2005. P.519

EMINENT DOMAIN AFTER KELO AND PENNSYLVANIA'S NEW EMINENT DOMAIN CODE. Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Pennsylvania Bar Institute, 2006. P.519

THE ENCYCLOPEDIA BRITANNICA MICROPEDIA (15th ed. 1997). P.881

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSTITUTIONALISM. (James R. May & Erin Daly, eds. 2016). P.795

Epstein, Michael A. MODERN INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY (1984). P.24.

ERA IMPACT CLEARINGHOUSE: INDEX AND REFERENCES, (ERA Impact Project, A Joint Project of the NOW Legal Defense & Education Fund and the Women's Law Project 1980). P.952

Evans, Frank B. Pennsylvania Politics, 1872-1877: A Study in Political Leadership (1966). P.858

Fannon, James G. *The Public Policy Exception to the Employment at Will Doctrine: Searching for Clear Mandates in the Pennsylvania Constitution.* 27 RUTGERS L. J. 927 (1996). P.328

Fishman, Joel. Justice Michael A. Musmanno and Obscenity (1956-1967). 44 DUQ. L. REV. 649 (2006). P.335

Flaherty, John P. William Penn, Lawgiver. THE PA. LAWYER 47 (Nov.-Dec. 2000). P.150, 151

Ford, Paul Leicester. *The Adoption of the Pennsylvania Constitution of 1776.* 10 Pol. Science Q. 426 (1895). P.157, 539.

Forsythe, Clarke D. *The Historical Origins of Broad Federal Habeas Review Reconsidered.* 70 NOTRE DAME L. REV. 1079 (1995). P.620.

Foreword, Pennsylvania Supreme Court Review 1986—A Long and Prominent Tradition. 60 TEMP. L.Q. 311 (1987). P.2.

Freed, Daniel J. & Patricia M. Wald, BAIL IN THE UNITED STATES (1964). P.613

Friedman, Lawrence. *The Constitutional Value of Dialogue and the New Judicial Federalism.* 28 HASTINGS CONST. L.Q. 93 (2000). P.12, 13

Friedman, Lawrence M. A HISTORY OF AMERICAN LAW (2d ed. 1985). P.542.

Friesen, Jennifer. Should California's Constitutional Guarantees of Individual Rights Apply Against Private Actors? 17 HASTINGS CONST. L. Q. 111 (1989). P.943

Friesen, Jennifer. State Constitutional Law: Litigating Individual Rights, Claims and Defenses (2d ed. 1996). P.500

Friesen, Jennifer. State Constitutional Law: Litigating Individual Rights, Claims and Defenses (3d ed. 2000). P.118-19, 228, 286, 287, 288, 289, 344, 500, 526, 527, 528, 533, 546, 549, 559, 561, 563, 565, 569, 572, 573, 575, 580, 609, 648, 649, 835, 836, 850, 851, 852, 856, 880, 898, 900, 907, 908, 936, 942-43

Friesen, Jennifer. State Constitutional Law: Litigating Individual Rights, Claims and Defenses (4th ed. 2006). P.20, 681, 880

Fritz, Christian G. Alternative Visions of American Constitutionalism: Popular Sovereignty and the Early American Constitutional Debate. 24 HASTINGS L. J. 287 (1997). P.54.

Frost, J. William. A PERFECT FREEDOM: RELIGIOUS FREEDOM IN PENNSYLVANIA (Cambridge Studies in Religion and American Public Life, 1990). P.39, 159, 186, 189, 192, 193

Gailey, Lauren. Thirty Years Too Long: Why the Michigan v. Long Presumption Should be Rejected and What Can be Done to Replace It? 53 DUQ. L. REV. 483 (2015). P.32.

Gallagher, Carole L. *The Movement to Create an Environmental Bill of Rights: From Earth Day,* 1970 to the Present. 9 FORDHAM ENVIL L. J. 107 (1997). P.829

Garcia, Alfredo. *The Fifth Amendment: A Comprehensive Historical Approach.* 29 U. Tol. L. Rev. 209 (1998). P.490, 491

George, Robert W. Comment: Prognosis Questionable: An Examination of the Constitutional Health of the Arkansas Medical Malpractice Statute of Repose. 590 ARK. L. REV. 691 (1998). P.573.

German, Steven. *Pennsylvania's Act 13 Oil and Gas Law Ruled Unconstitutional by Pennsylvania Supreme Court.* 18 No. 1 ABA ENVTL. LITIG. & TOXIC TORTS COMMITTEE NEWSL. 19 (November 2016).

Gildin, Gary S. Coda to William Penn's Overture: Safeguarding Non-Mainstream Religious Liberty Under the Pennsylvania Constitution. 4 U. PA. J. CONST. L. 81 (2001). P.141

Gildin, Gary S. *The Supreme Court and Religious Liberty: The Competing Visions of William Penn and John Bannister Gibson* in John J. Hare, ed. The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania: Life and Law in the Commonwealth 1684-2017 (2018). P.141

Ginsburg, Ruth Bader. Some Thoughts on Judicial Authority to Repair Unconstitutional Legislation. 28 CLEV. St. L. Rev. 301 (1979). P.876

Gipson, Lawrence Henry. THE COMING OF THE REVOLUTION (1954). P.742, 743

Gleisser, Marcus. Juries and Justice (1968). P.279

Goldberg, Arthur J. and Stanley Mosk. *A Federalist for the 1980's*. 12 HASTINGS CONST. L. Q. 395 (1985). P.22.

Gorman, Robert M. The Unnecessary Harshness of Automatic Waiver for Failure to File a Timely Concise Statement of Matters Complained of on Appeal. 44 DUQ. L. REV. 443 (2006). P.393

Gormley, Ken. *Exploring a European Union: Unexpected Lessons from the American Experience.* 35 RUTGERS L.J. 69 (2004). P.1, 19.

Gormley, Ken. *Foreword: A New Constitutional Vigor for the Nation's Oldest Court.* 64 TEMP. L. REV. 215 (1991). P.1, 3, 19.

Gormley, Ken. One Hundred Years of Privacy. 1992 WIS. L. REV. 1335 (1992). P.911, 936

Gormley, Ken. *The Pennsylvania Constitution After Edmunds*. 3 WIDENER J. Pub. L. 55 (1993). P.1, 14, 15, 19.

Gormley, Ken. Special Project—State Constitutions and Criminal Procedure: A Primer for the 21st Century. 67 Or. L. Rev. 689 (1988). P.1, 5, 19

Gormley, Ken. The Pennsylvania Legislative Reapportionment of 1991 (1994). P.262

Gormley, Ken. *The Silver Anniversary of New Judicial Federalism*. 66 ALB. L. REV. 797 (2003). P. 31, 32

Gormley, Ken and Rhonda G. Hartman, *The Kentucky Bill of Rights: A Bicentennial Celebration*. 80 Ky. L. J. 1 (1991-92).

Grace, Cullen M. *The Sovereign Court, in Developments in State Constitutional Law.* 31 RUTGERS L. J. 1482 (2000). P.133, 984.

Greenberger, Steven R. Justice Scalia's Due Process Traditionalism Applied to Territorial Jurisdiction: the Illusion of Adjudication Without Judgment. 33 B. C. L. Rev. 981 (1992). P.468

Greenfield, Kent. Original Penumbras: Constitutional Interpretation in the First Congress. 26 CONN.L.REV. 79 (1993). P.752, 753

Grey, Betsy J. *The New Federalism Jurisprudence and Natural Tort Reform.* 59 Wash. & Lee L. Rev. 475 (2002). P.560.

Griffin, Stephen M. The Problem of Constitutional Change. 70 TULANE L. REV. 2121 (1996). P.70.

Groleau, Michelle L. Shepp v. Shepp: The Right of Parents in Pennsylvania to Advocate Religious Views That Would Constitute a Crime If Acted Upon. 17 WIDENER L.J. 521 (2008). P.144

Halston, Daniel W. The Meaning of the Massachusetts 'Open Courts' Clause and its Relevance to the Current Court Crisis. 88 MASS. L. REV. 122 (2004). P.530.

Halbrook, Stephen. The Right to Bear Arms in the First State Bills of Rights: Pennsylvania, North Carolina, Vermont, and Massachusetts. 10 Vt. L. Rev. 255 (1985). P.158, 720, 722, 723

Hammersley, Mia. *The Right to a Healthy and Stable Climate: Fundamental or Unfounded.* 7 ARIZ. J. ENVTL. L. & POL'Y 117 (2017). P.795

Handler, Alan B. Expounding the State Constitution. 35 RUTGERS L. REV. 202 (1983). P.22.

Hardiman, Thomas M. New Judicial Federalism and the Pennsylvania Experience: Reflections on the Edmunds Decision. 47 Duq. L. Rev. 503 (2009). P.10, 18, 22.

Harman, Robert. Note and Comment, The Peoples Right to Bear Arms What the Second Amendment Protects: An Analysis of the Current Debate Regarding What the Second Amendment Really Protects. 18 WHITTIER L. REV. 411 (1997). P.720

Harper, Robert Francis. THE CODE OF HAMMURABI (1904). P.401, 430

Harrison, Jack B. How Open is Open? The Development of the Public Access Doctrine Under State Open Court Provisions. 60 U. CINN. L. REV. 1307 (1992). P.532, 533, 535.

Hassman, Phillip E. Construction and Application of State Equal Rights Amendments Forbidding Determination of Rights Based on Sex. 90 A.L.R. 3d 158 (1979). P.833.

Heindl, W. A. Note: A Remedy for All Injuries? 25 CHICAGO-KENT L. REV. 90 (1945). P.560

Henderson, Ernest F. SELECT HISTORICAL DOCUMENTS OF THE MIDDLE AGES (1896). P.385

Hennessey, Edward F. *The Extraordinary Massachusetts Constitution of 1780*. 14 SUFFOLK U. L. REV. 873 (1980). P.22.

Herrington, Matthew J. *Popular Sovereignty in Pennsylvania 1776-1791*. 67 TEMP. L. REV. 575 (1994). P.40, 41, 42, 49, 50, 51, 55, 56, 59, 538, 541, 542.

Heyman, Steven J. Righting the Balance: an Inquiry into the Foundations and Limits of Freedom of Expression. 78 B.U. L. Rev. 1275 (1978). P.47, 58.

Hickey, Adam. Note. Between Two Spheres: Comparing State and Federal Approaches to the Right to Privacy and Prohibitions Against Sodomy. 111 YALE L.J. 993 (2002). P.936

Hickman, Kristin E. Comment, The More Things Change, The More They Stay The Same: Interpreting the Pennsylvania Uniformity Clause. 62 ALB. L. REV. 1695 (1999). P.865

Hicks, Josephine. *Note: The Constitutionality of Statutes of Repose: Federalism Reigns.* 38 VAND. L. REV. 627 (1985). P.527, 559, 560, 569, 573-74.

Hoerr, John P. AND THE WOLF FINALLY CAME (1988). P.316.

Hoffman, Jonathan M. By the Due Course of Law: The Origins of the Open Courts Clause of State Constitutions. 74 OR. L. REV. 1279 (1995). P.529, 530, 532, 533

Hoffman, Jonathan M. Questions Before Answers: The Ongoing Search to Understand the Origins of the Open Courts Clause. 32 Rutgers L. J. 1005 (2001). P.546.

Holdsworth, William S. A HISTORY OF ENGLISH LAW. (1936). P.582, 619

Holland, Randy J. State Constitutions: Purpose and Function. 69 TEMP. L. REV. 989 (1996). P.70.

Hollister, C. Warren. THE MAKING OF ENGLAND TO 1399 (8th ed. 2001). P.397

Holt, J. C. Magna Carta (1965). P.532

Holt, J. C. Magna Carta (2d ed. 1992). P.467

Hon. Vincent A. Cirillo, Curtis v. Kline, The Pennsylvania Supreme Court Declares Act 62 Unconstitutional—A Triumph for Equal Protection Law. 34 DUQ. L. REV. 471 (1996). P.114.

Horwitz, Morton J. The Transformation of American Law, 1870-1960: The Crisis of Legal Orthodoxy (1992). P.864

Howard, A. E. Dick. State Courts and Constitutional Rights in the Day of the Burger Court. 62 VA. L. REV. 873 (1976). P.23.

Howard, A. E. Dick. The Road from Runnymeade, Magna Carta and Constitutionalism in America (1968). P.527, 530, 532, 533.

Hubsch, Allen W. Education and Self-Government: The Right to Education Under State Constitutional Law. 18 J. L. & Educ. 93 (1989). P.866

Hurd, Rollin C. A Treatise On The Right Of Personal Liberty, And On The Writ Of Habeas Corpus (1876). P.619, 620

Hurdle, Jon. Court to Decide if Nearly \$400 Million in State Oil and Gas Bonuses Fund Conservation. STATE IMPACT PENNSYLVANIA, July 4, 2017, https://stateimpact.npr.org/pennsylvania/2017/07/04/advocate-says-state-should-use-oil-gas-lease-revenue-to-fund-conservation/. P.815

Iijima, Ann L. Minnesota Equal Protection in the Third Millennium: "Old Formulations" or "New Articulations"? 20 Wm. MITCHELL L. REV. 337 (1994). P.878

Inazu, John D. LIBERTY'S REFUGE: THE FORGOTTEN FREEDOM OF ASSEMBLY (New Haven: Yale University Press, 2012). P.705.

INTERCHURCH WORLD MOVEMENT OF NORTH AMERICA, PUBLIC OPINION AND THE STEEL STRIKE (1921). P.316

Ireland, O. S. *The Crux of Politics: Religion and Party in Pennsylvania, 1778-1789.* 42 Wm. & MARY Q. 453 (1985). P.160

Ireland, O. S. *The Ethnic-Religious Dimension of Pennsylvania Politics, 1778-1779.* 30 Wm. & MARY Q. 423 (1973). P.160

Irwin, Curtis J. DePaul v. Commonwealth: Why the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania "Folded" the Campaign Contribution of the Gaming Act. 20 WIDENER L.J. 559 (2011).

Israel, Jerold H. Free-standing Due Process and Criminal Procedure: the Supreme Court's Search for Interpretative Guidelines. 45 St. Louis U. L. J. 303 (2001). P.469

Jacobs, Michael William. *The Guaranties of Liberty in the Early Law of Pennsylvania*. 13 REP. PA. BAR ASS'N. 468-87 (1907). P.157

Jones, Matthew C. Fraud and the Franchise: The Pennsylvania Constitution's 'Free and Equal Election' Clause as an Independent Basis for State and Local Election Challenges. 68 TEMP. L. REV. 1473 (1995). P.251

Kahn, Paul W. Interpretation and Authority in State Constitutionalism. 106 HARV. L. REV. 1147, 1159 (1993). P.877

Kaplan, Carol M. *The Devil is in the Details: Neutral, Generally Applicable Laws and Exceptions from Smith.* 75 N.Y.U. L. REV. 1045 (2000). P.144

Keisling, Bruce. *Cimaszewski v. Pennsylvania Board of Probation and Parole.* 15 WIDENER L.J. 449 (2006). P.666.

Keller, Morton. Affairs of State: Public Life in Late Nineteenth Century America (1977). P.858

Kelley, Robert. The Cultural Pattern in American Politics: The First Century (1979). P.855

Kelso, J. Clark. California's Constitutional Rights to Privacy. 19 Pepp. L. Rev. 327 (1992). P.936

Kenyon, Cecelia M. *Constitutionalism in Revolutionary America* in Nomos, Constitutionalism, 84 (J. Pennock & J. Chapman, eds. 1979). P.3, 538

Koch, William C., Jr. Reopening Tennessee's Open Courts Clause: A Historical Reconsideration of Article I, Section 17 of the Tennessee Constitution. 27 U. MEM. L. REV. 333 (1997). P.528, 533, 534, 535, 560, 574, 580.

Kolbert, Kathryn & David Gans. Responding to Planned Parenthood v. Casey: Establishing Neutrality Principles in State Constitutional Law. 66 TEMP. L. REV 1151 (1993). P.874

Kopel, David. What State Constitutions Teach About the Second Amendment. 29 N. Ky. L. Rev. 827 (2002). P.720, 721, 731-32

Kopel, David, Clayton Cramer and Scott G. Hattrup. A Tale of Three Cities: The Right to Bear Arms in State Supreme Courts. 68 TEMP. L. REV. 1177 (Fall 1995). P.732

Kozuskanich, Nathan. Defending Themselves: The Original Understanding of the Right to Bear Arms. 38 RUTGERS L.J. 1041 (2007). P.729

Krasik, Margaret K. Comment, A Review of the Implementation of the Pennsylvania Equal Rights Amendment. 14 Duq. L. Rev. 683 (1976). P.833, 951.

Kreimer, Seth F. Still Living After Fifty Years: A Census of Judicial Review Under the Pennsylvania Constitution of 1968. 71 RUTGERS U. L. REV. (2018). P.856

Kreimer, Seth F. *The Pennsylvania Constitution's Protection of Free Expression.* 5 U. PA. J. CONST. L. 12 (2002). P.291

Kreimer, Seth F. *The Right to Privacy in the Pennsylvania Constitution*. 3 WIDENER J. Pub. L. 77 (1993). P.147, 911

Krent, Harold J. *The Puzzling Boundary Between Criminal and Civil Retroactive Lawmaking*. 84 GEO. L. J. 2143 (1996). P.678.

Krotoszynski, Jr., Ronald J. RECLAIMING THE PETITION CLAUSE (New Haven: Yale University Press, 2012). P.705, 707, 708.

Kruger, Karen J. Note, Rediscovering the New Jersey E.R.A.: The Key to Successful Sex Discrimination Litigation. 17 RUTGERS L.J. 253 (1986). P.877

Kurland, Philip B. and Ralph Lerner. THE FOUNDERS' CONSTITUTION (5 vols. 1987; online version, 2000). P.293

Kury, Franklin L. Clean Politics, Clean Streams: A Legislative Autobiography and Reflections (2011). P.795

Kury, Franklin L. The Environmental Amendment to the Pennsylvania Constitution: Twenty Years Later and Largely Untested. 1 VILL. ENVTL. L. J. 123, 124 (1990). P.795, 805

Kury, Franklin L. Natural Resources and the Public Estate: A Biography of Article I, Section 27 of the Pennsylvania Constitution 1 (1985). P.795

Lamparter, Heather L. Act 91 of the Education Empowerment Act, Which Provides for Mayoral Control of Failing School Districts in Select Urban Areas, Does Not Violate the Equal Protection Clause of the United States Constitution or the Prohibition of Special Laws Under Article III, Section 32 of the Pennsylvania Constitution: Harrisburg School District v. Zogby. 42 DUQ. L. REV. 625 (2004). P.860

Landau, Jack L. *A Judge's Perspective on the Use and Misuse of History in State Constitutional Interpretation*. 38 VAL. U. L. REV. 451 (2004). P.541.

Landau, Jack L. Some Thoughts on State Constitutional Interpretation. 115 PENNSY. L. REV. 837 (2011). P.22.

Lasson, Kenneth. Blunderbuss Scholarship: Perverting the Original Intent and Plain Meaning of the Second Amendment. 32 U. Balt. L.Rev. 127 (2003). P.732

Lasson, N. The History and Development of the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution (1937). P.346-47

Latzer, Barry. Whose Federalism? Or, Why "Conservative" States Should Develop Their State Constitutional Law. 61 ALB. L. REV. 1399 (1998). P.25.

Lawson, Gary and Guy Seidman, *Downsizing the Right to Petition*. 93 Nw. u. L. REV. 739, 749 (1999). P.707, 708.

Lazarus, Richard J. Changing Conceptions of Property and Sovereignty in Natural Resources: Questioning the Public Trust Doctrine. 71 IOWA L. REV. 631, 655-56 (1986). P.820-21

Ledewitz, Bruce. *The Challenge of, and Judicial Response to, Environmental Provisions in State Constitutions.* 4 EMERGING ISSUES St. CONST. L. 33 (1991). P.829

Ledewitz, Bruce. What's Really Wrong with the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania. 32 Duq. L. Rev. 409 (1994). P.758

Ledewitz, Bruce. When Federal Law is also State Law: The Implications for State Constitutional Law Methodology of Footnote Seven in Commonwealth v. Matos. 72 TEMP. L. REV. 561 (1999). P.178, 206

Legaspi, Jose R. Harrisburg School District v. Zogby: The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania Concludes It Cannot Countenance a "Closed Class" Created by the Education Empowerment Act. 14 WIDENER L.J. 619 (2005). P.860

Lenz, Timothy O. 'Rights Talk' About Privacy in State Courts. 60 ALB. L. REV. 1613 (1997). P.936.

Lermack, Paul. The *Law of Recognizances in Colonial Pennsylvania*. 50 TEMP. L.Q 475, 487 (1977). P.613.

Levinson, Sanford. Thee Embarrassing Second Amendment. 99 YALE L. J. 637 (1989). P.720

Levy, Leonard W. The Establishment Clause: Religion and the First Amendment (1986). P.187, 189, 192

Lewis, Thomas P. Jural Rights Under Kentucky's Constitution: Realities Grounded in Myth. 80 Ky. L. J. 964 (1992). P.526, 530, 560, 573.

Light, Matthew W. Note: Who's the Boss? Statutory Damage Caps, Courts, and State Constitutional Law. 58 WASH. & LEE L. REV. 315 (2001). P.559, 565.

Linde, Hans A. Are State Constitutions Common Law? 34 ARIZ. L. REV. 215 (1992). P.856

Linde, Hans A. E. Pluribus-Constitutional Theory and State Courts. 18 Ga. L. Rev. 165 (1984). P.22, 856.

Linde, Hans A. First Things First: Rediscovering the States' Bills of Rights. 9 U. Balt. L. Rev. 379 (1980). P. 12, 13, 22.

Linde, Hans A. When Initiative Lawmaking Is Not "Republican Government": The Campaign Against Homosexuality. 72 OR. L. REV. 19 (1993). P.973.

Linde, Hans A. Without "Due Process": Unconstitutional Law in Oregon. 49 OR. L. REV. 125 (1970). P.20, 553.

Linnekin, Baylen J. "Tavern Talk" and the Origins of the Assembly Clause: Tracing the First Amendment's Assembly Clause Back to Its Roots in Colonial Taverns. 39 HASTINGS CONST. L.Q. 593 (2012). P.706.

Linzer, Peter. Why Both with State Bills of Rights? 68 TEX. L. REV. 1573 (1990). P.560, 580.

Lorence, Michael. Special Criminal Tribunals. 40 PITTSBURGH L. J. 35 (April 1992). P.626

Lutz, Donald S. Political Participation in Eighteenth-Century America, in Toward a Useable Past, Liberty Under State Constitutions (1991). P.539.

Lyons, Adam E. Here is the Church, Now Who Owns the Steeple? A Revised Approach to Church Property Disputes. 15 WM. & M. BILL RIGHTS J. 963 (2007). P.225, 226

Macaulay, Thomas B. HISTORY OF ENGLAND (1899). P.659

Maclin, Tracey. When the Cure for the Fourth Amendment is Worse than the Disease. 68 S. CAL. L. Rev. 1 (1994). P.347

Magleby, James E. *The Constitutionality of Utah's Medical Malpractice Damages Cap Under the Utah Constitution*. 21 J. Contemp. L. 217 (1995). P.559, 565, 569.

Malcolm, Joyce Lee. *The Right of the People to Keep and Bear Arms: The Common Law Tradition*. 10 HASTINGS CONST. L. Q. 285 (1982-83). P.721, 722

Malcolm, Joyce Lee. To KEEP AND BEAR ARMS: THE ORIGINS OF AN ANGLO-AMERICAN RIGHT (1994). P.722

Maltz, Earl, Robert F. Williams & Michael Araten. Selected Bibliography on State Constitutional Law, 1980-1989. 20 RUTGERS LJ. 1093 (1989). P.5

Maltz, Earl M. The Dark Side of State Court Activism. 63 Tex. L. Rev. 995 (1985). P.23.

Manahan, Kacy. The Constitutional Public Trust Doctrine. 49 ENVTL. L. 263 (2019).

Mank, Bradford C. Does the Evolving Concept of Due Process in Obergefell Justify Judicial Regulation of Greenhouse Gases and Climate Change?: Juliana v. United States. 52 U.C. DAVIS L. REV. 855 (2018). P.795

Mark, Gregory A. *The Vestigial Constitution: The History and Significance of the Right to Petition.* 66 FORDHAM LAW REV. 2153 (1998). P.705.

Marritz, Donald. Courts to be Open: Suits Against the Commonwealth, Article I, Section 11, Chapter 14 in The Pennsylvania Constitution: A Treatise on Rights and Liberties (Ken Gormley et al., eds. 2020). P.528

Marritz, Donald. Making Equality Matter (Again): The Prohibition Against Special Laws in the Pennsylvania Constitution. 3 Widener J. Pub. L. 161 (1993). P.168, 544, 553, 569, 860.

Marshall, Jonathan D. *Symposium Introduction: District of Columbia v. Heller.* 59 SYR. L. REV. 165 (2008). P.729

Matthews, William L., Jr. *The Function of Constitutional Provisions Requiring Uniformity in Taxation*. 38 Ky. L.J. 31, 187, 377, 503 (1949). P.863

May, James R. & Erin Daly, eds. GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL CONSTITUTIONALISM (2014). P.795

Mazzone, Jason. Freedom's Associations. 77 WASH. L. REV. 639 (2002). P.707, 709

McAffee, Thomas B. and Michael J. Quinlan. *Bringing Forward the Right to Keep and Bear Arms: Do Tradition, History, or Precedent Stand in the Way?* 75 N.C.L. REV. 781 (1997). P.720

McConnell, Michael W. *Institutions and Interpretation: A Critique of City of Boerne v. Flores.* 111 Harv. L. Rev. 153 (1997). P.179

McConnell, Michael W. *The Origins and Historical Understanding of Free Exercise of Religion*. 103 Harv. L. Rev. 1409 (1990). P.146, 159

McGeary, M. Nelson. *Pennsylvania's Constitutional Convention in Perspective*. XLI PA. B ASSN. Q. 175 (1970). P.72, 73, 74,75.

McGovern, Francis E. *The Variety, Policy and Constitutionality of Product Liability Statutes of Repose.* 30 AMER. U. L. REV. 579 (1981). P.529, 559, 569, 573, 574.

McGreal, Paul E. Alaska Equal Protection: Constitutional Law or Common Law? 15 ALASKA L REV. 209 (1998). P.878

McKechnie, William Sharp. MAGNA CARTA: A COMMENTARY ON THE GREAT CHARTER OF KING JOHN (2nd ed. 1914). P.467, 533.

McKinstry, Robert B., Jr. and John C. Dernbach. *Applying the Pennsylvania Environmental Rights Amendment Meaningfully to Climate Disruption*. 8 MICH. J. ENVTL. & ADMIN. L. 49 (2018). P.819

Meador, Daniel John. Habeas Corpus and Magna Carta: Dualism of Power and Liberty (1966). P.619

Meyer, Hermine H. THE HISTORY AND MEANING OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT (1977). P.468.

Mian, Badshah K. AMERICAN HABEAS CORPUS: LAW, HISTORY, AND POLITICS (1984). P.619

Michailenko, Ann C. Pennsylvania's Constitutional Mandate and the General Assembly's Duty to Provide Public School Students with a "Thorough and Efficient" Education. 4 EMERGING ISSUES IN St. Const. L. 177 (1991). P.868

Miller, William Lee. THE FIRST LIBERTY; RELIGION AND THE AMERICAN REPUBLIC (1987). P.158

Milula, Jacqueline A. Recent Decisions. 14 Dug. L. Rev. 101 (1975). P.876

Morris, Juli A. Challenging Sodomy Statutes: State Constitutional Protections for Sexual Privacy. 66 IND. L.J. 609 (1991). P.936

Mosk, Stanley. State Constitutionalism After Warren: Avoiding the Potomac's Ebb and Flow, in DEVELOPMENTS IN STATE CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 201 (B. McGraw ed. 1985). P.22.

Mosk, Stanley. *State Constitutionalism: Both Liberal and Conservative*. 63 Tex. L. Rev. 1081 (1985). P.24, 25, 40.

Mott, R. L. DUE PROCESS OF LAW (1973). P.880-81, 882, 883

Murley, David E. Private Enforcement of the Social Contract: Deshaney and the Second Amendment Right to Own Firearms. 36 Duq. L. Rev. 15 (1997). P.720

Myers, David A. Open Space Taxation and State Constitutions. 33 VAND. L. REV. 837 (1980). P.863

Natelson, Robert G. *The Constitutional Contributions of John Dickinson*. 108 PENN ST. L. REV. 415, 421 (2003). P.708.

National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws. UNIFORM PRINCIPLE AND INCOME ACT (2009). P.816

National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws. SUMMARY: UNIFORM PRINCIPLE AND INCOME ACT (1997). P.816

Nelson, Ronald L. Welcome to the "Last Frontier", Professor Gardner: Alaska's Independent Approach to State Constitutional Interpretation. 12 ALASKA L. REV. 1 (1995). P.878

Neuman, Gerald L *The Habeas Corpus Suspension Clause After INS v. St. Cyr.* 33 COLUMBIA HUMAN RIGHTS L. REV. 555 (2002). P.619, 620

Newhouse, Wade J. Constitutional Uniformity and Equality in State Taxation (2d ed. 1984). 2 vols. P.863, 865

Nigro, Russell M. Foreword: The Importance of Interpretive Theory in State Constitutional Law. 73 Temp. L. Rev. 905 (2000). P.547.

Nix, Robert N. C., Jr. Federalism in the Twenty-First Century–Individual Liberties in Search of a Guardian," in Federalism: The Shifting Balance 71 (J. Griffin ed. 1989). P.9, 14, 22.

Nix, Robert N. C., Jr. States Must Lead Privacy Battle. PA. L.J. 5 (Sept. 28, 1987). P.926.

Nix, Robert N. C., Jr. and Mary M. Schweitzer. *Pennsylvania's Contribution to the Writing and Ratification of the Constitution*. 72 PA. MAG. OF HIST. & BIOGRAPHIES 3 (1988). P.922.

Note, Bail: An Ancient Practice Reexamined. 70 YALE L.J. 966 (1961). P.613

Note, Beyond the Establishment Clause: Enforcing Separation of Church and State Through State Constitutional Provisions. 71 VA. L. REV. 625 (1985). P.228

Note, Private Abridgment of Speech and the State Constitutions. 90 YALE L. J. 165 (1980). P.943

Note, Sexual Discrimination and Equal Protection: Do We Need a Constitutional Amendment? 84 HARV. L. REV. 1499 (1971). P.834

Nowak, John E., Ronald D. Rotunda & J. Young. Constitutional Law (3d ed 1983). P.758

Nowak, John E., Ronald D. Rotunda & J. Young. Constitutional Law (2d ed. 1992). P.661, 678.

Nowak, John E., Ronald D. Rotunda & J. Young. Constitutional Law (5th ed. 1995). P.94.

O'Connor, Sandra Day. Our Judicial Federalism. 35 CASE W. RES. L. REV. 1 (1984-85). P.22.

O'Connor, Sandra Day. Trends in the Relationship Between the Federal and State Courts from the Perspective of a State Court Judge. 22 Wm. & MARY L. REV. 801 (1981). P.22.

O'Grady, Noreen. Comment, Toward a Thorough and Efficient Education: Resurrecting the Pennsylvania Education Clause. 67 TEMP. L. REV. 613 (1994). P.868

Palmer, Robert. *Liberties as Constitutional Provisions 1776-1791*, in William Nelson & Robert Palmer, Liberty and Community: Constitution and Rights in the Early American Republic 62-68 (1987). P.125.

Peck, Robert S., Richard Marshall, Kenneth D. Kranz. *Tort Reform 1999: A Building Without a Foundation*. 27 FLA. St. U. L. REV. 397 (2000). P.560.

Penn, William. SOME FRUITS OF SOLICITUDE. (8th ed. 1749). P.911

Peters, Ellen A. State Constitutional Law: Federalism in the Common Law Tradition. 84 MICH. L. REV. 583 (1986). P.22.

Peters, Ronald. THE MASSACHUSETTS CONSTITUTION OF 1780: A SOCIAL COMPACT (1978). P.857

Phillips, Thomas R. *The Constitutional Right to a Remedy*. 78 N.Y.U. L. REV. 1309 (2003). P.526, 527, 533, 533-34, 555, 580.

Pinguelo, Fernando M. Note. Laboratory of Ideas: One State's Successful Attempt to Constitutionally Ensure a Healthier Environment. 4 BUFF. ENVTL. L. J. 269 (1997). P.829

Pittsburgh Press, Feb. 10, 1991. P.4

Pollock, Stewart J. Adequate and Independent State Grounds as a Means of Balancing the Relationship Between State and Federal Courts. 63 Tex. L. Rev. 977 (1985). P.23, 27

Pollock, Stewart J. State Constitutions as Separate Sources of Fundamental Rights. 35 RUTGERS L. REV. 707 (1983). P.12, 13, 14, 22

Porter, Robert C. *Note, The Pennsylvania Constitutional Requirement of Uniformity in Taxation.* 87 U. Pa. L. Rev. 219 (1938). P.863

Presser, Stephen H. Separation of Powers and Civil Justice Reform: A Crisis of Legitimacy of Law and Legal Institutions. 31 SETON HALL L. REV. 657 (2001). P.559.

Price, Melanie D. The Privacy Paradox: The Divergent Paths of the United States Supreme Court and State Courts on Issues of Sexuality. 33 IND. L. REV. 863 (2000). P.936

Randall, Susan C. Due Process Challenges to Statutes of Repose. 40 S.W. L.J. 997 (1986). P.572, 574.

Ratner, Gershon M. A New Legal Duty for Urban Public Schools: Effective Education in Basic Skills. 63 Tex. L. Rev. 777 (1985). P.866

Recent Case: Constitutional Law–Freedom of the Press–Pennsylvania Supreme Court Declines to Adopt Neutral Reportage Privilege. Norton v. Glenn, 860 A.2d 48 (Pa. 2004). 118 HARV. L. REV. 2029 (2005). P.332

Recent Case: Constitutional Law—Substantive Due Process—Pennsylvania Supreme Court Holds That Criminal Defendant's Best Interests Justify Forcible Medication.—Commonwealth v. Sam, 952 A.2d 565 (Pa. 2008). 122 HARV. L. REV. 1961 (2009). P.928-29

Reeves, John. HISTORY OF THE ENGLISH LAW: FROM THE TIME OF THE SAXONS, TO THE END OF THE REIGN OF PHILIP AND MARY [1558]. (1787) (reprint Philadelphia: M. Murphy, 1880). P.397, 401

REMEMBER WILLIAM PENN 1744-1944, A TERCENTENARY MEMORIAL (William Penn Tercentenary Committee, 2d ed. 1945). P.534, 535

Richards, David and Chris Riley. Symposium on the Texas Constitution: Developing a Coherent Due-Course of Law Doctrine. 68 Texas L. Rev. 1649 (1990). P.529, 560, 580.

Ricketts, Elizabeth. *The Struggle for Civil Liberties and Unionization in the Coal Fields: The Free Speech Case of Vintondale, Pennsylvania, 1922.* 122 PA. MAG. OF HIST. AND BIOG. 319 (1998). P.316

Riggs, Robert E. Substantive Due Process in 1791. 1990 Wis. L. Rev. 941 (1990). P.468, 469

Rinaldi, Richard. Dormant for Decades, the Environmental Rights Amendment of Pennsylvania's Constitution Recently Received a Spark of Life from Robinson Township v. Commonwealth. 24 Widener L.J. 435, 436–37 (2015). P.87

Roach, John C. Commonwealth v. Wasson: Invalidating Kentucky's Sodomy Statute—Rule of Men. 81 Ky. L.J. 483 (1993). P.936

Roberts, Samuel J. *The Adequate and Independent State Ground: Some Practical Considerations*. 19 LAND & WATER L. REV. 647 (1984). P.22.

Roesler, Shannon M. Comment: The Kansas Remedy by Due Course of Law Provision: Defining a Right to a Remedy. 47 KAN. L. REV. 655 (1999). P.575.

Rogers, William H., Jr. ENVIRONMENTAL LAW (2d ed. 1994 & Supp. 1998). P.794

Romeo, Stephen J. *Jones v. City of Philadelphia: Illegal Searches and Civil Causes of Action.* 16 WIDENER L.J. 685 (2007). P.577.

Rosenberg, Norman L. Protecting the Best Men An Interpretive History of the Law of Libel (1986). P.294

Rosenthal, Lawrence & Joyce Lee Malcolm. *McDonald v. Chicago: Which Standard of Scrutiny Should Apply to Gun Control Laws?* 105 NW. U. L. REV. 437 (Winter 2011). P.730

Rudovsky, David. THE LAW OF ARREST, SEARCH AND SEIZURE IN PENNSYLVANIA. (10th ed. 2018). P.351

Rudovsky, David. Lecture: Running in Place: The Paradox of Expanding Rights and Restricted Remedies. 2005 U. ILL. L. REV. 1199 (2005). P.579

Ruhl, J. B. *The Metrics of Constitutional Amendments: And Why Proposed Environmental Quality Amendments Don't Measure Up.* 74 Notre Dame L. Rev. 245 (1999). P.794

Russ, W. A. Origin of the Ban on Special Legislation. 11 PA. HIST. 260-75 (Oct. 1944). P.858

Rustad, Michael L. & Thomas H. Koenig. *Taming the Tort Monster, The American Civil Justice System as a Battleground of Social Theory*. 68 BROOKLYN L. REV. 1 (2002). P.528, 558.

Ryerson, Richard A. *Republican Theory and Partisan Reality in Revolutionary Pennsylvania*, Sovereign States in an Age of Uncertainty 95-117 (1981). P.3, 855

Ryerson, Richard Alan. The Revolution is Now Begun: The Radical Committees of Philadelphia, 1765-1776 (1978). P.538.

Sager, Lawrence G. Fair Measure: The Legal Status of Underenforced Constitutional Norms. 91 HARV. L. REV. 1212 (1978). P.562

Sarvey, John. A Hundred Years Journey. 17 PA. LAW. 4 (July/Aug 1995). P.74.

Saylor, Thomas G. Fourth Amendment Departures and Sustainability in State Constitutionalism. 22 WIDENER L.J. 1 (2012). P.8

Saylor, Thomas G. *Prophylaxis in Modern State Constitutionalism: New Judicial Federalism and the Acknowledged, Prophylactic Rule.* 59 N.Y.U. ANN. SURV. Am. L. 283 (2002). P.8, 22.

Schlickeisen, Rodger. Protecting Biodiversity for Future Generations: An Argument for a Constitutional Amendment. 8 Tul. Envtl. L. J. 181 (1994). P.794

Schuman, David. Oregon's Remedy Guarantee: Article I Section 10 of the Oregon Constitution. 65 OREGON L. REV. 35 (1986). P.526, 530

Schuman, David. The Right to a Remedy. 65 TEMP. L. REV. 1197 (1992). P.559, 561.

Schuyler, Livingston Rowe. The Liberty of the Press in the American Colonies Before the Revolutionary War (1905). P.293, 302

Schwartz, Bernard. THE GREAT RIGHTS OF MANKIND (1992). P.884

Schwartz, Victor E. & Leah Lorber, *Judicial Nullification of Civil Justice Reform Violates the Fundamental Federal Constitutional Principles of Separation of Powers: How to Restore the Right Balance*. 32 Rutgers L. J. 907 (2001). P.529, 559.

Scott, James A. & Charles C. Roe. THE LAW OF HABEAS CORPUS (1923). P.620, 621

Selsam, J. Paul. The Pennsylvania Constitution of 1776: A Study in Revolutionary Democracy. (DaCapo Press, 1971) (1936). P.2, 35, 37, 38, 40, 41, 44, 47, 48, 49, 52, 53, 55, 92, 157, 158, 159, 160, 240, 293, 294, 592, 722, 919, 966, 967

Shalhope, Robert. Republicanism and Early American Historiography. 39 WM. & MARY Q. 334 (3d ser. 1982). P.855

Shaman, Jeffrey M. *The Evolution of Equality in State Constitutional Law.* 34 RUTGERS L.J. 1013 (2003). P.857

Sharpe, R. J. THE LAW OF HABEAS CORPUS (1st ed. 1976). P.619

Shaw, John W. Principled Interpretations of State Constitutional Law—Why Don't the 'Primacy' States Practice What They Preach? 54 U. PITT. L. REV. 1019 (1993). P.14

Sheffer, Martin S. *God Versus Caesar: Free Exercise, the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, and Conscience.* 23 OKLA. CITY U. L. REV. 929, 934-39 (1998). P.172

Sherry, Suzanne. *The Early Virginia Tradition of Extra-Textual Interpretation*. 53 ALB. L. REV. 297 (1989). P.919

Sherry, Suzanne. Natural Law in the States. 61 U. CINN. L. REV. 171 (1992). P.471, 919

Shimmell, Louis S. The Government of Pennsylvania and of the United States (1911). P.92.

Siegel, Reva B. Dead or Alive: Originalism as Popular Constitutionalism in Heller. 122 Harv. L. Rev. 191 (2008). P.729

Silverstein, Mark. Privacy Rights in State Constitutions: Models for Illinois? 1989 U. ILL. L. REV. 215 (1989). P.936

Simmons, Ric. Re-Examining the Grand Jury: Is There Room for Democracy in the Criminal Justice System? 82 B.U.L.REV. 1 (February 2002). P.487, 492

Sipe, Casey L. Uniontown Newspapers, Inc. v. Roberts: "Under Color of State Law", But Not Under Precedent. 17 WIDENER L.J. 553 (2008). P.309

Skyler, Marc Vernon. Criminal Procedure—Pennsylvania Expands Double Jeopardy Protection to Include Prosecutorial Overreaching Directed at Securing a Conviction—Commonwealth v. Smith—615 A.2d 321 (Pa. 1992). 67 TEMP. L. REV. 825 (1994). P.491, 497

Smead, Elmer E. *The Rule Against Retroactive Legislation: A Basic Principle of Jurisprudence*. 20 Minn. L. Rev. 775 (1936). P.653.

Smith, Jill M. Annual Survey of Pennsylvania Administrative Law: Labor and Employment: Nixon v. Commonwealth: Providing Protection to the Elderly and Disabled by Conducting Criminal Background Checks on Their Caretakers. 14 WIDENER L.J. 679 (2005). P.102.

Smith, Norman B. "Shall Make No Law Abridging . . . ": An Analysis of the Neglected, But Nearly Absolute Right of Petition. 54 U. CINN. L. REV. 1153 (1986). P.705.

Solum, Larry B. District of Columbia v. Heller and Originalism. 103 NW. U. L. REV. 923 (2009). P.729

Sosnov, Leonard. Criminal Procedure Rights Under the Pennsylvania Constitution: Examining the Present and Exploring the Future. 3 Widener J. Pub. L. 217 (1993). P.491, 497

Spake, Michael. *Public Access to Physician and Attorney Discipline Proceedings*. 21 NAT'L ASS'N ADMIN. L. JUDGES 289 (2001). P.549.

Sparks, Jared. THE WORKS OF BENJAMIN FRANKLIN, 409 (1840). P.49.

Spindelman, Marc. Forward: Some Early Views on District of Columbia v. Heller. 69 OHIO ST. L.J. 603 (2008). P.729

Stallcup, Timothy. Comment. The Arizona Constitutional 'Right to Privacy' and the Invasion of Privacy Tort. 24 ARIZ. ST. L.J. 687 (1992). P.936

State Constitutional Right of Freedom to Assembly Provisions. 41 A.L.R.7th Art. 7 (2019). P.716

Steiker, Carol S. Second Thoughts About First Principles. 107 HARV. L. REV. 820 (1994). P.347, 348

Stephenson, Andrew. A HISTORY OF ROMAN LAW (1912). P.401

Stewart, Potter. *The Road to Mapp v. Ohio and Beyond: The Origins, Development and Future of the Exclusionary Rule in Search-and-Seizure Cases.* 83 COLUM. L. REV. 1365 (1983). P.528.

Stewart, Richard B. *The Reformation of American Administrative Law.* 88 HARV. L. REV. 1669 (1975). P.24.

Stimson, Frederick Jessup. THE LAW OF THE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONS OF THE UNITED STATES (1908). P.687, 736, 739

Stoner, James R., Jr. Common Law and Liberal Theory: Coke, Hobbes, and the Origins of American Constitutionalism (1992). P.530.

Story, Joseph. Commentaries on the Constitution of the United States (1858). 3 vols. P.752, 756, 757

Stringham, Ray. MAGNA CARTA: FOUNTAINHEAD OF FREEDOM (1966). P.276, 467

Sunstein, Cass. Second Amendment Minimalism: Heller as Griswold. 122 HARV. L. REV. 246 (2008). P.729

Swindler, William F. MAGNA CARTA: LEGEND AND LEGACY (1965). P.526, 532.

Swindler, William F., ed. SOURCES AND DOCUMENTS OF UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS (1979). P.35, 68, 125, 535, 536, 537, 538, 541, 542, 553, 556, 557, 577, 966, 967, 968, 969, 970, 971, 973

Sykes, Diane S. *The "New Federalism;" Confessions of a Former Supreme Court Justice*. 38 OKLA. CITY U. L. REV. 367 (2013). P.22

Symposium, District of Columbia v. Heller. 69 OHIO ST L.J. 603 (2008); 59 SYR. L. REV. 165 (2008).

Symposium, Equitable Financing of Our Public Schools. 24 CONN. L. REV. 675 (1992). P.868

Symposium, Investing in Our Children's Future: School Finance Reform in the 90's. 28 HARV. J. ON LEGIS. 293 (1991). P.868

A Symposium on God and the Land: Conflicts Over Land Use and Religious Freedom. 2 ALB. GOV'T. L. REV. 354 (2009). P.145

Taft, Philip. Organized Labor in American History (1964). P.24.

Tarr, G. Alan & Mary C. Porter, Gender Equality and Judicial Federalism: The Role of State Appellate Courts. 9 HASTINGS CONST. L.Q. 919 (1982). P.876

Tarr, G. Alan. Church and State in the States. 64 WASH. L. REV. 73 (1989). P.228

Tarr, G. Alan. Understanding State Constitutions (1998). P.527, 553

Teeter, Dwight L. A LEGACY OF EXPRESSION: PHILADELPHIA NEWSPAPERS AND CONGRESS DURING THE WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE 1775-1783 (1967) (unpublished Ph.D dissertation University of Wisconsin) P.294, 295

Teeter, Dwight L. Press Freedom and the Public Printing: Pennsylvania, 1775-83. 45 JOURNALISM Q. 445 (1968) P.294

THE BILL OF RIGHTS: A DOCUMENTARY HISTORY (Bernard Schwartz ed. 1971). P.158, 298

THE OXFORD ENGLISH DICTIONARY (2d ed. 1989). P.147

Thomas, Wayne H., Jr. BAIL REFORM IN AMERICA (1976). P.613

Thompson, Barton H., Jr. Environmental Policy and State Constitutions: The Potential Role of Substantive Guidance. 27 RUTGERS L. J. 863 (1996). P.794

Thro, William E. *The Third Wave: The Impact of the Montana, Kentucky, and Texas Decisions on the Future of Public School Finance Reform Litigation*. 19 J.L. & EDUC. 219 (1990). P.866

Thro, William E. To Render Them Safe: The Analysis of State Constitutional Provisions in Public School Finance Reform Litigation. 75 VA. L. REV. 1639 (1989). P.866

Tractenberg, Paul. *The Evolution and Implementation of Educational Rights Under the New Jersey Constitution of 1947*. 29 RUTGERS L.J. 827 (1998). P.868

Tractenberg, Paul. Reforming School Finance Through State Constitutions: Robinson v. Cahill Points the Way. 27 RUTGERS L. REV. 365, 415-28 (1974). P.867

Tribe, Laurence H. Constitutional Choices (1985). P.939

Trimmer, Michael A. Bible v. Department of Labor and Industry: the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania Upholds Retroactive Provision in Workers' Compensation Act Allowing for Hearing Loss Claims. 7 WIDENER J. PUB. L. 825 (1998).

Trombetta, Ch, 579ristopher J. The Unconstitutionality of Medical Malpractice Statutes of Repose: Judicial Conscience Versus Legislative Will. 34 VILL. L. REV. 397 (1989). P.529, 558-59, 560, 569, 572, 574.

Trowel, Kevin. Note: Divided by Design: Kitzmiller v. Dover Area School District, Intelligent Design, and Civic Education. 95 GEO. L.J. 855 (2007).P.205

Tucker, John C. Constitutional Codification of an Environmental Ethic. 52 FLA. L. REV. 299 (2000). P.829

Turkington, Richard C. Constitutional Limitations on Tort Reform: Have the State Courts Placed Insurmountable Obstacles in the Path of Legislative Response to the Perceived Liability Insurance Crisis? 32 VILL. L. REV. 1299 (1987). P.529, 559, 561, 569

Turkington, Richard C. Legal Protection for the Confidentiality of Health Care Information in Pennsylvania: Patient and Client Access; Testimonial Privileges; Damage Recovery for Unauthorized Extra-Legal Disclosure. 32 VILL. L. REV. 259 (1987). P.911

Unity from Diversity: Extracts from Selected Pennsylvania Colonial Documents, 1681 to 1780, In Commemoration of the Tercentenary of the Commonwealth 5 (Louis M. Waddell ed., 1982) P.153

Utter, Robert F. Freedom and Diversity in a Federal System: Perspectives on State Constitutions and the Washington Declaration of Rights. 7 U. PUGET SOUND L. REV. 491 (1984); P.23.

Utter, Robert F. The Right to Speak, Write, and Publish Freely: State Constitutional Protection Against Private Abridgment. 8 U. Puget Sound L. Rev. 157 (1985). P.943

Utter, Robert F. Swimming in the Jaws of the Crocodile: State Court Comment on Federal Constitutional Issues When Disposing of Cases on State Constitutional Grounds. 63 Tex. L. Rev. 1025 (1985). P.12, 23.

Vail, John. A Common Lawyer Looks at State Constitutions. 32 RUTGERS L. J. 977 (2001). P.552, 561, 575.

Van Alstyne, William & Kenneth Karst, State Action. 14 STAN. L. REV. 3 (1961). P.941

van Rossum, Maya K. The Green Amendment: Securing Our Right to a Healthy Environment (2017). P.829

Van Volkenburg, Jeffrey D. Asleep at the Switch: the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission's Acceptance of the Telecommunications Act and the Resulting Elimination of State Court Review. 45 Duq. L. Rev. 615 (2007).

Vanek, Sean J. Uniontown Newspapers v. Roberts: The Pennsylvania Right-to-Know Act and a State Legislator's Right to Prevent You From Knowing. 14 WIDENER L.J. 637 (2005). P.309

Vanzi, Linda M. Freedom at Home: State Constitutions and Medicaid Funding for Abortions. 26 N.M. L. REV. 433 (1996). P.936

Vile, John R. THE CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDING PROCESS IN AMERICAN POLITICAL THOUGHT (1992). P.126.

Virden, R. Brittain. Comment: Tort Reform and the Mississippi Constitution of 1890. 63 Miss. L. J. 797 (1994). P.560.

Wall Street Journal, Feb. 7, 1991. P.4.

Watson, David K. WATSON ON THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES (1910). P.688, 742, 744, 746, 751

Werber, Stephen J. *The Constitutional Dimension of National Products Liability Statute of Repose*. 40 VILL. L. REV 985 (1995). P.527, 573.

Wexler, Jay D. Kitzmiller and the "Is It Science?" Question. 5 FIRST AMENDMENT L. REV. 90 (2006). P.205

Whisker, James. *Historical Development and Subsequent Erosion of the Right to Keep and Bear Arms*. 78 W. VA. L. REV. 171 (1975-76). P.722

Widin, Douglas R. Comment: Suspect Classifications: A Suspect Analysis. 87 DICK. L. REV. 407, 415–423 (1983). P.562.

Wilder, Stuart. *All Courts Shall Be Open: The Public's Right to View Judicial Proceedings and Records*. 52 TEMP. L. Q. 311 (1979). P.549.

Wilkes, Jr., Donald E. More on the New Federalism in Criminal Procedure: State Court Evasion of the Burger Court. 63 Ky. L. J. 873 (1975). P.23.

Wilkins, Herbert P. Judicial Treatment of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights in Relation to Cognate Provisions of the United States Constitution. 14 SUFFOLK U. L. REV. 887 (1980). P.23.

WILLIAM PENN AND THE FOUNDING OF PENNSYLVANIA 1680-1684: A DOCUMENTARY HISTORY (Jean R. Soderlund et al., eds. 1983). P.531, 536

Williams, Robert F. Equality Guarantees in State Constitutional Law. 63 TEXAS L. REV. 1195 (1985). P.856, 918, 919, 951.

Williams, Robert F. Foreword: A Research Agenda in State Constitutional Law. 66 TEMPLE L. REV. 1145 (1993). P.530, 546.

Williams, Robert F. Foreword: The Importance of an Independent State Constitutional Equality Doctrine in School Finance Cases and Beyond. 24 CONN. L. REV. 675 (1992). P.857

Williams, Robert F. Foreword: Tort Reform and State Constitutional Law. 32 Rutgers L.J. 897 (2001). P.546, 549.

Williams, Robert F. *In the Supreme Court's Shadow: Legitimacy of State Rejection of Supreme Court Reasoning and Result.* 35 S.C. L. REV. 353 (1984). P.10.

Williams, Robert F. *Methodological Problems in Enforcing State Constitutional Rights*. 3 GA. St. L. Rev. 143 (1986-87). P.10

Williams, Robert F. New Jersey State Constitution: A Reference Guide (rev ed. 1997). P.868, 877

Williams, Robert F. Old Constitutions and New Issues: National Lessons From Vermont's State Constitutional Case on Marriage of Same-Sex Couples. 43 BOSTON COLL. L. REV. 73 (2001). P.878

Williams, Robert F. A 'Row of Shadows': Pennsylvania's Misguided Lockstep Approach to its State Constitutional Equality Doctrine. 3 WIDENER J. PUB. LAW 343 (1993). P.10, 168, 185, 566, 855.

Williams, Robert F. STATE CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: CASES AND MATERIALS (2d ed. 1993). P.939.

Williams, Robert F. STATE CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: CASES AND MATERIALS (3d ed. 1999). P.527, 936.

Williams, Robert F. State Constitutional Law Processes. 24 Wm. & Mary L. Rev. 169 (1989). P.47, 530, 547, 560

Williams, Robert F. State Constitutional Limits on Legislative Procedure: Legislative Compliance and Judicial Enforcement. 48 U. Pitt. L. Rev. 797 (1987). P.544.

Williams Robert F. *The State Constitutions of the Founding Decade: Pennsylvania's Radical 1776 Constitution and its Influences on American Constitutionalism.* 62 TEMPLE L. REV. 541 (1989). P.3, 42, 49, 50, 54, 57, 58, 59, 60, 126, 157, 250, 482, 538, 539, 542, 544, 628, 855, 857.

Willoughby, Westel Woodbury. The Constitutional Law of the United States (2d ed. 1929). 2 vols. P.689

Wilson, Peter. Veto Message of Governor Peter Wilson regarding Religious Freedom Protection Act, A.B. No. 1617 (Sept. 28, 1998), available at https://www.dca.ca.gov/legis/ab1617.htm. P.181

Winkler, Adam. Symposium, The Second Amendment and the Right to Bear Arms After D.C. v. Heller. 56 UCLA L. REV. 1551 (2009). P.729

Wise, Michael B. Northern Lights—Equal Protection: A Last Analysis in Alaska. 3 ALASKA L. REV. 1 (1986). P.878

Witte, Harry L. Rights, Revolution, and the Paradox of Constitutionalism: The Processes of Constitutional Change in Pennsylvania. 3 WIDENER L.J. 383 (1993). P.123, 965.

Wohl, Alexander. New Life for Old Liberties—The Massachusetts Declaration of Rights: A State Constitutional Law Case Study. 25 NEW Eng. L. Rev. 177 (1990). P.943

Wood, Gordon S. Foreword: State Constitution-Making in the American Revolution. 24 RUTGERS L.J. 911 (1993). P.538, 542, 543, 547, 555

Wood, Gordon S. THE CREATION OF THE AMERICAN REPUBLIC 1776-1787 (1972). P.125, 126, 965, 966, 993.

Wright, James L. and M. Mathew Williams. *Remember the Alamo: The Seventh Amendment of the United States Constitution, the Doctrine of Incorporation, and State Caps on Jury Awards.* 45 S. TEX. L. REV. 449 (2004). P.575.

Wright, J. Skelly, *In Praise of State Courts: Confessions of a Federal Judge*. 11 HASTINGS CONST. L. Q. 165 (1984). P.23.

Yeager, Jordan B. et al. Green Amendment is a Constraint on Governmental Authority (2019). P.829

Zablotsky, Peter. From a Whimper to a Bang: The Trend Toward Finding Occurrence Based Statutes of Limitations Governing Negligent Misdiagnosis of Diseases with Long Latency Periods Unconstitutional. 103 DICK. L. REV. 455 (1999). P.560.

Zimmer, Jonathan, Regulation Reloaded: The Administrative Law of Firearms After District of Columbia v. Heller. 62 ADMIN. L. REV. 189 (2010). P.729

Ziegler, Donald E. Constitutional Rights of the Accused—Developing Dichotomy Between Federal and State Law. XLVIII PA. BAR ASS'N. Q. 24 (1977). P.20.

Ziegler, Donald E. *Project Report, Toward an Activist Role for State Bills of Rights*. 8 HARV. C.R.-C.L. L. REV. 271 (1973). P.20.